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The joint committee met in private session until 2.34 p.m.

Atypical Work Permit Scheme: Discussion (Resumed)

Chairman: I remind members, visitors and those in the Gallery to ensure that their mobile 
phones are either switched off or placed in flight mode for the duration of the meeting as they 
interfere with the broadcasting equipment even when on silent.

The purpose of this meeting is to discuss the situation of non-EEA crew working in the Irish 
fishing fleet under the atypical work permit scheme and related matters.  I welcome Mr. Pat-
rick Murphy, CEO, Irish South and West Fish Producers Organisation; Mr. Francis O’Donnell, 
CEO, and Mr. Dermot Conway, solicitor, Irish Fish Producers Organisation; Mr. Hugo Boyle, 
CEO, Irish South and East Fish Producers Organisation; Ms Norah Parke, project co-ordinator, 
Killybegs Fishermen’s Organisation; and Ms Trudy McIntyre, south east member, National 
Inshore Fisheries Forum.

Before we commence and in accordance with procedure, I am required to read the following.  
By virtue of section 17(2)(l) of the Defamation Act 2009, witnesses are protected by absolute 
privilege in respect of their evidence to the committee.  If they are directed by the committee to 
cease giving evidence on a particular matter and they continue to so do, they are entitled there-
after only to a qualified privilege in respect of their evidence.  They are directed that only evi-
dence connected with the subject matter of these proceedings is to be given and they are asked 
to respect the parliamentary practice to the effect that, where possible, they should not criticise 
or make charges against any person, persons or entity by name or in such a way as to make him, 
her or it identifiable.  Members are reminded of the long-standing parliamentary practice to the 
effect that they should not comment on, criticise or make charges against a person outside the 
Houses or an official either by name or in such a way as to make him or her identifiable.

I remind our guests that their presentations should be no more than five minutes in duration.  
The presentations submitted by today’s attendees have been circulated to members.  I invite Mr. 
Patrick Murphy to make his presentation.

Mr. Patrick Murphy: I thank the committee for inviting us to speak on such an important 
issue for the fishing industry.  I am the CEO of the Irish South and West Fish Producers Organi-
sation.  The organisation is based in Castletownbere, County Cork, and represents the greatest 
number of fishing vessels in Ireland’s fishing fleet.  Our membership comprises fishermen who 
operate in every segment of Ireland’s fishing industry with vessels that range in length between 
9 m and 27 m.  Our members utilise every type of fishing method - inshore and offshore - along 
the south and west coast of Ireland.

I come from a fishing background.  My family has a proud tradition of earning a living from 
coastal waters.  I have been told that I come from many generations of fishermen and I hope 
my son follows in my footsteps.  The fishing industry is very dear to my heart.  I have a young 
family who are interested in the sea but I fear for the future of the industry.  I fear that future 
employment in the fishing industry for our young people will not be an option.  My fear is based 
on the Government’s current proposal to reduce the Irish fishing fleet in the 12 m to 24 m sector 
by up to 50 vessels.  I fear that the three proposals put forward to address the matter will mean 
the end of many of our rural communities that depend on the coastal fishing boats, and the end 
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of an era for many thousands of families who live along our coastline.

Ireland’s natural resource-based seafood industry provides an important source of economic 
activity in remote coastal regions.  It provides jobs on fishing vessels, fish farms, in process-
ing operations and in the distribution and marketing of seafood at home and to export markets 
abroad.  Jobs are also provided in a large number of smaller ancillary companies that provide 
services to the mainstream industry operators such as net makers, etc.

The industry contributes approximately €700 million annually to the national income and 
employs an estimated 11,000 people, mainly in the coastal communities of Donegal and Louth.  
It is the duty of fishermen’s representatives to ensure the future viability of this industry for all 
those who currently work in it.  Fishing, as practised on the seas around our coastline, is not 
comparable with any other industry that is based on land.  One must take account of the many 
different fishing methods that are used by the skippers and masters of fishing vessels.  They 
have sole responsibility for the safety and well-being of their crews and vessels.  Everyone must 
understand that fishing involves a dangerous and unpredictable working environment.

I shall address the topic that has caused much anguish in the industry to date.  A sizeable 
number of our members who own fishing vessels under 15 m in length have been in touch with 
us.  They have asked us to convey the message that they cannot contract available qualified 
non-EEA crew to go to sea due to the fact that the scheme only relates to vessels over 15 m in 
length.  Also, they are seriously disadvantaged in their ability to hire qualified crew for their 
licensed fishing vessels.  We have been made aware that fishing vessels occasionally have no 
choice but to go to sea with one or two fewer crew members than would be preferred.  If this is 
allowed to continue it could turn in to a health and safety issue as reduced crew numbers mean 
longer working hours for those on board.  We respectfully request that the committee reconsider 
the parameters under which the atypical scheme is administered and possibly recommend that 
vessels under 15 m be included in it.  We have circulated a petition among our membership and 
other boats in our area and have collected 50 signed petitions from the crew of vessels who say 
they would like to see that happen.  That took place in the past couple of weeks and is ongoing.

The 2015 Government task force report said that the scheme was to allow for the structured 
and transparent employment of non-EEA workers within a defined framework in the Irish fish-
ing fleet.  It did not mention vessel size.  In making its recommendations the task force was 
focused on practical arrangements which would enable the risks of exploitation to be minimised 
while ensuring reputable employers are able to recruit trained and experienced crew members.  
Ireland’s whitefish sector will benefit from the implementation of the main recommendations 
of the report.  Allegations made last year in certain quarters and reported in the mainstream 
media gave the perception that the task force had failed in that objective.  However, operations 
to follow up on the allegations were carried out in several fishing ports by many of the agencies 
involved in the task force, assisted by armed gardaí, the Navy and the Garda dog unit at what 
I assume was no small cost to the State but none of the alleged 2,000 illegal trafficked non-EU 
workers were found.

The 2015 report also noted that crew members on fishing vessels are traditionally share fish-
ermen, meaning they receive a share of the proceeds of the vessel’s catch rather than a regular 
wage.  In the 1980s skippers and vessel owners brought a High Court challenge which resulted 
in the crewmen in that case who were share fishermen being re-classified as self-employed 
rather than employees.

The crew of a fishing boat operate like a family who work together as a unit and share the 
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workload to achieve one purpose, which is to leave the safety of the harbour to face the ele-
ments and spend days and nights at sea as hunter-gatherers and catch a valuable and important 
part of society’s diet.  In a world with a rapidly increasing population, food security is becoming 
more and more important.

Anything that adds risk or uncertainty to the changing of fishing operations should be con-
sidered very carefully.  However, only one consultation was held with fishing industry experts 
prior to the atypical scheme.  It would have been preferable if the industry had been fully in-
cluded in its drafting.  There is a consensus among fishermen with whom I have spoken that the 
complexities of how vessels operates and how operators often have to change a plan of opera-
tion in a moment is not understood or taken into consideration.  When the weather or the catch 
of fish changes, a skipper has to respond and he or she puts the safety of his or her crew and boat 
as a priority in this unpredictable industry.  In the farming sector one has to harvest crops based 
on weather conditions and long hours are put in, often even overnight.  It is a mistake to imply 
that the fishing industry is unique.  Weather conditions also affect the time it takes to shoot, haul 
and process the catch.  For example, for safety reasons a net must be taken on board and not 
left on the outside of the boat because it could foul the boat’s propeller with serious danger to 
the crew and vessel.  The quality of fish also depends on the speed at which the crew process 
the haul.  The crew cannot leave the deck and leave fish from a haul and come back to it later 
because, for food quality and safety reasons, it needs to be processed in as short a time as pos-
sible.  Depending on the amount of haul in the boat there could be an extension of the duration 
for which the crew are expected to work.  No responsible skipper or master will put the well-
being of his or her crew at risk but in the environment in which he or she operates decisions are 
occasionally made that breach the working time regulations but nevertheless must be made for 
the safety of the vessel and its crew.

We advocate that legislators be informed of the complexities of this industry.  It is not the 
same as a factory environment because it is an unpredictable hunter-gatherer industry that re-
wards skill, experience and those who endeavour to make their living in the face of the risk of 
facing the elements.  I thank the committee for listening to my address and hope to answer any 
questions members may have.

Mr. Francis O’Donnell: The Irish Fish Producers Organisation, IFPO, welcomes the op-
portunity to present to the committee on issues regarding migrant workers in the Irish fishing 
industry.  Much has been said in the print media and on the airwaves since The Guardian 
newspaper broke its story in November 2015 on alleged abuses of migrant workers in the Irish 
fishing industry.  I stress that neither I nor the IFPO in any way condone the mistreatment of 
any employee, either Irish or non-EEA, within our industry or any other.  The IFPO has been 
at the forefront in the national media to condemn any abuses of human rights of either Irish or 
non-Irish persons working in our industry.  Like any industry, there may be those who are not 
committed to abiding by the law and we cannot and will not support that.  However, very little 
of a positive nature has been said in the media about, for example, those in my organisation 
who are fully compliant with the atypical scheme for migrant workers and who are paying well 
above the minimum wage.

The IFPO does not support the employment of undocumented people on Irish fishing ves-
sels which is why it has always pushed for a permit scheme.  In 2008 the IFPO wrote to the 
Government to highlight the issue of undocumented workers.  I wrote to the then Minister for 
Jobs, Enterprise and Innovation, Deputy Richard Bruton, in October 2015 to ask for a meeting 
to address employment issues within the fishing industry and, in particular, that he consider a 
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work permit for non-EU citizens.  I released those documents to the media two years ago to 
clear up any misconceptions the public may have had on where we stood on this issue.  It is 
important to point out that happened before The Guardian broke its story or the Government set 
up the task force which ultimately resulted in the non-EEA scheme for migrant workers within 
the Irish fishing industry.  Moreover, I wrote to the then Minister for Jobs, Enterprise and In-
novation, Deputy Frances Fitzgerald, in January of this year to outline that the current scheme 
needed to be reviewed.  In particular, I felt that a non-transferable permit put employees at risk 
and left them vulnerable.  That letter has been given to the committee.

On 4 July 2017 the Migrant Rights Centre and the International Transport Workers’ Federa-
tion presented to this committee in relation to migrant non-EEA workers in the Irish fishing 
industry.  On foot of that I wrote to the committee asking that the fishing industry be allowed 
to give its account and clarify several important issues.  Having viewed the footage of the com-
mittee meeting of 4 July I felt that the entire Irish fishing industry was painted as criminals 
involved in slavery.  Much of the commentary was made under privilege.   The suggestion that 
the Garda Síochána was tipping off fishing vessel owners prior to inspections or raids was of 
particular concern.  That was an incredible suggestion and I can say with confidence that in my 
opinion it has never happened.  It is a very serious allegation.

The committee was told that only 42 permits were applied for under the scheme.  Dermot 
Conway, solicitor, who is sitting beside me, can confirm that his office alone has dealt with 135 
individual applications.  Other solicitors are processing similar applications.  That does not 
include the numbers of renewals.  The committee was told that there are 1,500 non-EEA fisher-
men in the country without a visa.  As of 20 July 2017 the Workplace Relations Commission, 
WRC, had inspected 150 of the 176 whitefish vessels and none of the five resultant prosecutions 
relates to a crew member being on board without the necessary visa.  If the Migrant Rights Cen-
tre and the International Transport Workers’ Federation have evidence of the mistreatment of 
non-EEA workers in the Irish fishing industry they should hand that information to the WRC or 
the Garda Síochána.  It is incredible to think that serious allegations of criminal activity which 
were alluded to on 4 July - not 3 July as I wrote in my presentation which was given to the com-
mittee - could be discussed at this committee and that those files, if they exist, have not been 
furnished to the relevant authorities.  I ask them to do so now in the interests of fairness to the 
employee, the employer, the WRC and An Garda Síochána.  Not handing over this information 
would either suggest they are not doing their job, or that there is no such information to hand 
over.  One way or the other, the accusations made are very damaging to the reputation of genu-
ine fishermen and women and the wider fishing industry.

Mr. Hugo Boyle: I am CEO of the Irish South and East Fish Producers Organisation.  As 
my colleagues have gone into the details of how the fishing industry works, I will keep my ad-
dress brief.

The Irish South and East Fish Producers Organisation, ISEFPO, thanks members for giving 
us the opportunity to present and clarify some misconceptions about the treatment of migrant 
workers in the fishing industry.  Our organisation does not condone the mistreatment of any per-
son, worker or otherwise, and encourages anyone who is aware of such ill-treatment to bring it 
to the attention of the appropriate authorities.  With other industry organisations, we have been 
proactive in looking for a scheme to regularise the status of non-EEA workers in the industry.  
This was achieved in 2016 with the introduction of the atypical workers scheme which was a 
welcome development, but like all new schemes, it needed some time to bed in and overcome 
the learning curve.  To this end, we were ably assisted by the Workplace Relations Commission, 
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WRC, in guiding the organisation and individual skippers-owners on the necessary measures to 
comply with the new legislation.

I refute completely any suggestion, as recorded here in July, that the WRC was not doing its 
job and fulfilling its role.  We take issue with the fact that people who had vilified the industry 
with misleading and unsubstantiated accusations at every opportunity in various media were 
invited to come before this committee and make false allegations against the industry, the WRC 
and An Garda Síochána.  Portraying these bodies as condoning modern day slavery - the words 
used in the presentation - was outrageous and I am surprised that it was tolerated in this cham-
ber.  Wildly inaccurate figures for migrant workers from the same presenters have been bandied 
about.  In fact, on an RTE news programme in 2015 it was claimed that there were 8,000 such 
workers in the industry, when a figure of a few hundred would have been more accurate, but, 
of course, sensational stories make the news.  If the ITF or migrant rights people have evidence 
to substantiate their claims, they should pass on the evidence to the proper authorities, as oth-
erwise they are aiding and abetting criminal activity and should be answerable to the Garda.

For us, there has been a serious misrepresentation of the facts of the engagement of non-
EEA workers in the industry.  We ask the committee to take account of factual information and 
not wildly outrageous claims made by parties who may have a vested interest in distorting these 
same facts.

I will answer any question or elaborate on the points I have made.

Chairman: Ms Parke represents the Killybegs Fishermen’s Organisation

Ms Norah Parke: I thank the Chairman and committee members for giving me the oppor-
tunity to make what will be a very short presentation.  

The Killybegs Fishermen’s Organisation does not have a problem at this time as its mem-
bers do not employ any non-EEA personnel.  Therefore, we can take a dispassionate view of 
the situation, particularly the ongoing process at the Joint Committee on Jobs, Enterprise and 
Innovation.  However, the organisation has been closely involved during the years on a wide 
range of issues concerning the welfare of fishermen.  We have engaged freely and proactively 
with the agencies concerned and made every effort to disseminate relevant information, clarify 
some of the more obscure ramifications and consequences of regulations and, in fact, lobby for 
the improved protection of fishermen - Irish, European Union and non-EEA alike.  In addition, 
the CEO, Mr. Seán O’Donoghue, was a member of the interdepartmental task force set up by 
the then Minister with responsibility for the marine, Deputy Simon Coveney, in November 
2015 to regularise the employment of non-EEA fishermen.

The Killybegs Fishermen’s Organisation has been a supportive member of the Santa Marta 
group – the North Atlantic Maritime Project - since its launch in Ireland in May 2016.  I sug-
gest the reports and views expressed at the most recent Santa Marta group meeting in Dublin 
on 20 June 2017 which appear to overlap considerably with this joint committee group should 
be given some consideration.  My own experiences in dealing with Irish fishermen who were 
attempting to legally employ non-EEA workers might shed some light on the reasons there are 
occasions when it is simply impossible to be compliant, leading to both employers and workers 
falling through the cracks.

I can say categorically that there is no vessel owner, skipper or other member of the KFO 
organisation who has any desire to exploit his or her workers, let alone treat them as slave la-
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bour, and I am sure I also speak for my industry colleagues in that regard.  However, we need 
to live in the real world and acknowledge that sometimes things go wrong.  If a law does not 
work or is a bad law, we need to change it, but a successful change requires dealing with the 
facts, not emotional, exaggerated and sometimes slanderous allegations.  Let us take the op-
portunity to identify the drivers of non-compliance, not alone regarding non-EEA nationals but 
also employed fishermen from our communities and within the European Union.  This is not a 
situation which will be rectified by greater enforcement of short-term solutions but by appropri-
ate regulation.

I will be happy to answer questions.

Chairman: Ms Trudy McIntyre is the south east member of the National Inshore Fisheries 
Forum.

Ms Trudy McIntyre: On behalf of the National Inshore Fisheries Forum, NIFF, I thank the 
joint committee for the invitation to attend the meeting.  

The fishing vessels that come within the remit of the NIFF are trawlers, lobster and crab 
boats, whelks, razor, scallopers, gill-netters and small pelagics.  The very nature of this meeting, 
the atypical work permit scheme and the position of the non-EEA crew on Irish fishing vessels 
do not cause any direct involvement for us, as under our terms of reference, we represent fishing 
vessels under 12 m, while the scheme has been designed for vessels over 15 m.

On the atypical work permit scheme, the NIFF has no formal position on what is a complex 
issue.  To explain this, I will reiterate our chairman’s explanation at another committee meeting:

On policy and legislative issues such as this, the National Inshore Fisheries Forum, 
NIFF, takes direction from the six Regional Inshore Fisheries Forums, RIFFs.   NIFF tries 
to form consensus based on the views expressed from each individual regional forum.

Following on from this, no formal issues have been identified or raised by any of the RIFFs in 
relation to the scheme, as it stands.  Notwithstanding this, however, we would like to point out 
that the issues with lack of crew that our colleagues in the whitefish and prawn sectors face 
now also pose a big issue for fishing vessels in the under-12 m sector.  Whether this is a direct 
result of skilled inshore crewmen heading into positions that may have been occupied by our 
non-EEA co-workers remains to be seen, but the fact of the matter is that we are finding it 
more difficult to crew our vessels with skilled, trained and competent individuals who under-
stand what their jobs will entail.  Life at sea is tough, regardless of the vessel one is on.  Every 
fishery comes with its own challenges, even more so in the inshore sector as our jobs are more 
weather-dependent than for those on larger vessels.  Our size often leaves us without income 
for weeks on end.  Being a self-employed fisherman on any boat, one understands that when 
one is not fishing, one does not get paid.  One understands one can haul one’s nets or pots for 
a couple of boxes of fish or crabs that will not earn enough to cover the expenses to enable 
the boat to go out fishing that day or for that trip and one comes home with little or no money.  
One thing we are guaranteed is that there are no guarantees.

Considering these challenges, we would like to see the atypical permit scheme extended to 
the under-12 m sector, something which was mentioned as an option under consideration by 
the Government on a “Prime Time” programme segment on 6 April this year pertaining to the 
non-EEA fishermen in the fishing industry.  We are calling for a scheme that could be adapted to 
include the inshore sector in a manner that would be fair to all.  We acknowledge the complex 
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issues with the scheme, but we are willing to come to the table to see what can be done in that 
respect.

I take the opportunity to relay a few observations from my own personal experience outside 
the NIFF on some of the circumstances surrounding the scheme.

We have enough people here today speaking about the facts and issues surrounding why we 
are here.  I would like to tell the committee a bit about the other side of this awful story, one that 
has garnered much less attention and acknowledgement. 

I am a proud member of the Irish fishing industry and take my participation in this industry 
very seriously.  I take great offence at the recent attacks on the Irish fishing industry and the 
corresponding effort to paint us all with the same vile brush by individuals who know little or 
nothing about what it takes to be a fisherman or to be involved in the fishing community.  In 
Ireland everyone is so quick to believe what is printed.  A person is guilty until proven innocent 
and having to prove one’s innocence often comes at a huge financial and personal cost.  The 
losses incurred are felt by all those involved in the business, be it ashore or on the boat.  What 
that also does is break a person.  It causes mental anguish, it attacks his or her character, makes 
that person paranoid about what is going on and about who he or she can trust.  The ripple effect 
extends to that person’s family and to see that person crying and being hurt at the accusations 
being made against him or her is one of the hardest things anyone will ever go through.  I know 
this because my dad, Lenny Hyde, and his business partner, Pat O’Mahony, have been living 
this for well over 15 months, and even today when hearing anything to do with this issue, they 
relive the nightmare. 

Another proud member of the fishing community, Lia Ní Aodha, sent an open letter to the 
editor of The Guardian in response to an article published in that newspaper on 2 November 
2015.  She quite rightly states that the article unfairly and unnecessarily damages a small in-
dustry on the edge of Europe and harms the livelihoods of good, honest people, not only Irish 
skippers and crews but also the non-Irish.  Further, it defames countless hard-working people, 
their families and their colleagues and causes insurmountable hurt to individuals, their families 
and their communities.  She pointed out that the instances referred to in the article “are isolated 
and the exception rather than the norm”.  The people who may be guilty of the mistreatment of 
others do not differentiate between Egyptians, Filipinos, Irish, or with respect to skin colour.  
They treat everyone the same.  This is a reflection of the person, perhaps, not knowing any dif-
ferent, carrying out his or her duties, oblivious to his or her ignorance and moral duties.  These 
very people who have been spoken about in many interviews by the International Transport 
Workers Federation, ITF, have still not been brought to justice despite the “reams and reams” of 
evidence allegedly gathered against them.  I am curious to know if this evidence and informa-
tion has been handed over to An Garda Síochána and investigated.

At this committee meeting on 4 July, the Chair asked whether this is a racist issue.  Mr. Ken 
Flemming of the ITF answered that it was.  I absolutely disagree with that answer.   Across all 
levels of society, one will find individuals in positions of power who mistreat people in pay 
grades below them.  If the owner of a restaurant mistreats one of his employees, does that mean 
every restaurant owner is guilty of the same?  I put it to the committee this way.  Just because 
one or two individuals within the fishing sector of more than 2,000 fishing vessels may be guilty 
of mistreatment, why is the whole industry on trial? 

I came across a presentation by the ITF and SIPTU to Seafish in Scotland.  The last two 
points of that presentation got me really thinking.  They read as follows:
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As the internationally recognised premier organisation involved in looking after the wel-
fare of seafarers the ITF is willing to inspect all Irish vessels and certify whether or not they 
comply with the ETI.  ETI firms should only purchase produce from ITF certified vessels.

If the ITF and SIPTU are so concerned about bringing justice to the allegedly mistreated fish-
ermen, why has this been drawn out?  Why do they not hand over the information as it comes 
in?  What of the dozens of fishermen whom the ITF has holed up in safe houses?  Would these 
men not prefer to be at home with their families?  In Irish law is it not illegal knowingly to 
assist an illegal immigrant to stay in the country?  Withholding information from An Garda 
Síochána is a criminal offence.  It is an offence that is not tolerated in the fishing industry, but 
it seems to be acceptable for the ITF to do so.  Discrimination comes in many forms and can 
be interpreted by individuals as a personal attack.  As an Irish citizen and a member of the 
Irish fishing community, I feel that we are being discriminated against by organisations and 
persons with an ulterior motive.

Chairman: Thank you very much, Ms McIntyre.  I am afraid that we must suspend the 
meeting to allow Deputies to vote in the Dáil.  We will resume as soon as possible.

  Sitting suspended at 3.05 p.m. and resumed at 3.30 p.m.

Chairman: I thank Ms McIntyre for her presentation earlier.  We had to suspend the meet-
ing as there was a vote in the Dáil Chamber, which is now finished.

Before I afford my colleagues an opportunity to question the witnesses, I would like to refer 
to a comment made by Mr. Boyle.  He stated that his organisation takes issue with the fact that 
“people who vilified the industry (...) were invited to come before this committee and make 
false allegations against the industry, the WRC and the Garda”.  As Chairman of the commit-
tee and on behalf of my colleagues, I would like to state quite clearly that I take issue with his 
comment.  This is a fair and impartial, balanced committee.  We were contacted by the Migrant 
Rights Council of Ireland, MRCI, and the International Transport Workers’ Federation, ITF, 
as they had concerns.  The members decided to invite them in as we do for all organisations.  
When the organisations left, we went into private session and decided we would hear from the 
other side.  I would like to state on the record today as Chairman of this committee that I take 
offence at Mr. Boyle’s suggestion that this committee would invite people in who are being 
misleading and making unsubstantiated accusations.  There are two sides to every story and that 
is why we are here today.

I call Senator James Reilly.

Senator  James Reilly: I support the Chairman’s comments.

Chairman: I thank the Senator.

Senator  James Reilly: This committee has always sought both sides of every story.  To 
echo Mr. Boyle’s own words, I am disappointed by his comments, while he might have his own 
disappointments.  I do not think his language furthers his cause.

I want to deal with the issue because it is hugely important to us as a nation.  Allegations 
have been made of extensive mistreatment and abuse of people within an industry.  As some-
body who lives in north County Dublin, I am very proud of the ports along our coastline, our 
fishing industry and the men and women who are involved in fishing.  I am proud of the manner 
in which they do their work.  As others have pointed out, they seek to feed our people.  They are 
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challenged not just by the market, but also by the weather, like many farmers.  The huge differ-
ence between them and farmers is that their lives are challenged and their safety is at risk.  All 
too often, sadly, we lose valued and loved members of our community.  All here would hope to 
be able to support those involved in the industry in making it as safe as possible.  I was talking 
to some of the organisation members today about the moves that have taken place in that regard 
such as, at a bare minimum, wearing a life jacket at all times.

I want to comment on the issues raised by a number of people around the scheme itself and 
how it does not apply to vessels under 15 m.  As was pointed out, the task force never men-
tioned boat size when it came into being.  I would support that changing and being open to all 
operators.  We have a duty as legislators and as members of this committee in particular, how-
ever, to make sure that the scheme is fit for purpose.

I find a lot of the witnesses’ evidence very compelling.  What I do not find credible is the 
idea that there are no rogue operators within any industry or profession, including my own.  We 
need to be realistic.  I take on board the point that if there is evidence there, it should be made 
available to the appropriate authorities.  Senator Gavan informs me that several cases of illegal 
trafficking are with the authorities at the moment.  Let us be on the one side here, namely, the 
side of justice and fairness to all parts of the industry.  Let us weed out those who are bringing 
it into disrepute and not have the entire industry tarred with the one brush because of the bad 
actions of a few. 

I thank our guests for coming in.  I reiterate that this industry is hugely important to us and 
will probably grow in importance.  I would like to see that.  Again, I reiterate the Chair’s words.  
This committee believes in fairness and due process.  That is why the witnesses were invited 
today to give their side of the story and bring balance.  I thank them for doing that.  In its own 
time, the committee will consider all the evidence that has been put before it.

I apologise as I have to leave now.  I thank Senator Gavan for allowing me to speak first.

Senator  Paul Gavan: I support the comments of the Chair.  I am quite taken aback that 
Mr. Boyle would come in and castigate this committee.  It is made up of a wide range of parties 
and interests.  I can say with my hand on my heart, particularly in respect of the Chair but also 
of all of us, that we always strive to work fairly and collegially and to get our work done.  I do 
not think Mr. Boyle does himself or his industry any service by coming in with those remarks.

I would like to start with a couple of positives.  I highlight Mr. O’Donnell’s speech.  His 
point about the permit scheme being altered to ensure that a worker does not “belong” to any 
particular employer is one we should heed.  I welcome his comments.  I also support what Sena-
tor James Reilly has said.  Common sense suggests that boats under 15 m should be included in 
the scheme.  Let us try to recognise that.

Overall, I must be frank in saying that I am very disappointed.  There seems to be a large 
degree of denial from our guests today.  The problem is that there is a large number of non-EEA, 
undocumented workers in the industry.  I have huge respect for Ken Fleming, who is a trade 
unionist of high renown and a man of honour and integrity.  We do not have to take his word 
for it, however.  We can take the word of the MRCI, a body that has worked courageously with 
undocumented migrants for years.  It is very clear about the abuses that unfortunately are going 
on within significant sectors of the industry.  We will also hear from the Defence Forces later 
on this afternoon.  I will cite their document.  They inspected 63 Irish-registered fishing vessels 
and found 134 non-EEA crew members, of whom only 39 had the required letter of approval.  
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Some 95 did not or, in other words, two thirds of the workers were working illegally.  Are the 
witnesses seriously telling us that the Defence Forces are lying?  If we are going to make prog-
ress on this issue, we need to acknowledge that there is a major problem with undocumented 
workers.  We need to find a way of helping them to come back into the workforce legally.  Can 
the witnesses explain to me why the Defence Forces found that two out of three non-EEA work-
ers were working illegally on those 63 boats?

Mr. Francis O’Donnell: For clarity, has this been detected since the permit scheme came 
into operation?

Senator  Paul Gavan: Yes.

Mr. Francis O’Donnell: That certainly is absolutely new to us.  Nobody supports rogue 
operators who are abusing the system and have people working on board their vessels without a 
valid visa.  I am on record as saying that.  Workers should at least be in the process of getting a 
valid visa; there was period during which somebody could have a letter to say they were being 
processed.  That figure has never been given to me previously.  No one here condones that, but 
it begs the question that if that has been the case, they were working in the country illegally and 
I would have assumed the Naval Service would have detained the vessel or taken those persons 
under its control and delivered them to the Garda.  I am not saying in any way that I do not 
believe what the Senator is saying, but we have an even bigger-----

Senator  Paul Gavan: It is not what I am saying.

Mr. Francis O’Donnell: Okay.  The question has to be asked.  What was the process from 
there on in?  Why was that not dealt with?

Senator  Paul Gavan: We can ask the Defence Forces representatives that later.

Mr. Francis O’Donnell: It is very important.

Senator  Paul Gavan: Absolutely, but the more important point is that Mr. O’Donnell has a 
major problem in his industry and I do not hear him acknowledging that even though the facts 
are available.  I will give him a second fact, if I may.  Seventy of the 150 boats the Workplace 
Relations Commission, WRC, inspected had no documentation whatsoever.  Will any of the 
witnesses explain that to me?

Mr. Patrick Murphy: Will the Senator clarify that?

Senator  Paul Gavan: Yes.

Mr. Patrick Murphy: Documentation in regard to what?

Senator  Paul Gavan: Documentation in regard to their workforce.

Mr. Patrick Murphy: Their workforce-----

Senator  Paul Gavan: Yes.

Mr. Patrick Murphy: -----or the non-EEA workers?

Senator  Paul Gavan: No.  Their workers.  They had no documentation whatsoever accord-
ing to the WRC report, and we will hear from the WRC later today.  Some of the witnesses seem 
to be in denial.  Will they explain to me how that could be?
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Mr. Patrick Murphy: The Senator has to clarify that further for us because we have log-
books and the crew members on board the boats sign in to those logbooks.

Senator  Paul Gavan: I am glad Mr. Murphy raised the issue of logbooks - fair play to 
him for raising it - because I see that last year, 2016, 116 logbooks were returned to the Marine 
Survey Office, MSO, in the first six months and just 60 in the second six months.  Again, Mr. 
Murphy represents these fishers.  Will he explain to me-----

Mr. Patrick Murphy: Senator Gavan seems to be under the misconception that we repre-
sent every vessel that fishes in Irish waters.  We can only speak for-----

Senator  Paul Gavan: Okay.

Mr. Patrick Murphy: Wait one second.  The Senator is making a lot of information avail-
able-----

Senator  Paul Gavan: I am dealing with facts.  We need to take the emotion out of this and 
deal with facts.

Mr. Patrick Murphy: Are you going to give me the opportunity to address you?

Chairman: Through the Chair, please.  Senator Gavan referred to defence organisation 
submission, which we have not heard yet.  The members already have a copy of it.

Mr. Patrick Murphy: Chairman, we are at a total disadvantage.

Chairman: The witnesses are at a total disadvantage in that respect.  Senator Gavan might 
ask his question again.

Senator  Paul Gavan: I have two questions, and I will finish at that point.  Why do the wit-
nesses not acknowledge the problem to which the facts clearly point regarding a large number 
of non-EEA workers?  The follow-on question is that for the sake of their industry and given 
that they are now facing 19 claims of trafficking, some of which information has already gone 
to the Garda and the rest is on its way, why will they not engage with the International Transport 
Workers Federation, ITF, and try to address this issue before untold damage is done to their 
industry?

Chairman: I call Mr. Murphy and then Mr. Conway.

Mr. Patrick Murphy: I will be brief.  We are at a total disadvantage here.

Chairman: I said that.

Mr. Patrick Murphy: It is very unfair that these figures are being bandied at us.  We have 
no prior knowledge of this.  I can only speak for the members in my own organisation.  I do 
not represent my colleagues’ industry representatives, their organisation or vessels that are not 
part of the producer organisations, POs, that we four represent.  The Senator might give us the 
details.

I would like to take up the Senator on one point.  He said 13 cases are being prosecuted.  He 
said that 63 vessels had 139 undocumented crew-----

Senator  Paul Gavan: Yes.
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Mr. Patrick Murphy: -----yet they are only taking 13 cases.

Senator  Paul Gavan: Mr. Murphy is not listening.  I never said that.

Chairman: For clarity, I will read out the chapter-----

Senator  Paul Gavan: Thank you.

Chairman: -----if that might help because I know Mr. Murphy is at a disadvantage.

Mr. Patrick Murphy: Absolutely.

Chairman: It states:

Specifically focusing on non-EEA statistics, during the period 1 January 2016 to 8 Sep-
tember 2017, the Naval Service boarded and inspected sixty-three (63) Irish registered fish-
ing vessels over 15 metres in length relevant to the issue we are discussing today.  The num-
ber of non-EEA crew members onboard totalled one hundred and thirty four (134).  Of these 
one hundred and thirty four (134) non EEA crew members, thirty-nine (39) had the required 
letter of approval and ninety-five (95) did not.  In line with the MoU, details relating to these 
non-EEA crew members were forwarded to the SFPA for onward transmission to the WRC.

That is exactly what it states.  I call Mr. Conway.

Mr. Dermot Conway: First, that letter just shows that, respectively, there is some misun-
derstanding as to how this scheme operated.  The article in The Guardian was November 2015.  
The task force agreed to set up the scheme in early 2016.  Applicants could not apply for the 
visas until May 2016.  That scheme was still open in October 2016.  The distinction, when I 
refer to “that scheme”, is that prior to October 2016 a person was entitled to be within the State 
and apply for the visa.  After October 2016, a person could not be within the jurisdiction and 
apply for a visa.  That remains the position today.

From February 2016 to September 2016, it not only is perfectly plausible-----

Senator  Paul Gavan: It is 2017.

Chairman: It is 2017.

Mr. Dermot Conway: I thought the numbers were for 2016.

Chairman: No.  It states, “during the period 1 January 2016 to 8 September 2017”.

Senator  Paul Gavan: Mr. Conway needs to rethink that.

Mr. Dermot Conway: Okay.  The second point I would make is that there is a big distinc-
tion, which would require clarification, between someone being asked for a letter and not hav-
ing it but having a visa to be within the State.  We are talking about a trawler of some descrip-
tion.  It is not someone’s office.  It is not the same as my office.  It is not the same as a human 
resources, HR, department in Tesco.  Not every piece of paper that is required to be in an office 
is necessarily on a trawler.  That is the first comment I would make, and it is something that 
would have to be clarified.  In my experience of dealing with the visa issue, there has been a 
huge take-up of visas by owners who are engaging these non-EEA people.  The numbers the 
Senator is quoting are from inspections by a naval vessel and I would be much more interested 
in hearing what the WRC has to say because if it carries out an inspection, it can require, un-
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der legislation, the owner-operator of that vessel to supply the information at a later date if the 
owner-operator does not have that information on the day of the inspection.

Regarding the WRC statistics about no documentation whatsoever, the WRC breakdown 
of the numbers I have seen ranges from payslips to not having the contracts of employment, to 
not having the actual authorisations on the boat on the day of the inspection.  It is a range of 
documentation which goes above and beyond the actual authorisation itself.  That is something 
that needs to be clarified because it is not appropriate to say that 70 boats had zero paperwork 
towards these authorisations.  What is factually clear from the statistics that were released by 
the WRC is that there are five prosecutions taking place, and that was after it could not get the 
owner-operator to co-operate or supply what had been demanded of them by way of legislation.  
It is five, not 70.

In regard to the trafficking cases that are taking place, I have not seen a single statistic issued 
by anyone as to the number of cases that have commenced.  Senator Reilly has given a number 
of seven.  Senator Gavan has given a number of 19 and the number of 13 was bandied around 
a minute ago also.

Senator  Paul Gavan: By your side.

Mr. Dermot Conway: I am here for the Irish Fish Producers Organisation and I believe that 
unless someone from the Director of Public Prosecutions can clarify the exact number of cases 
that have issued, it is very unfair to say that in terms of the industry and the representatives of 
the industry who would expect to have heard of some of these cases if they had started, that 
they were aware.

The other comment I would make is that just because someone is prosecuted for trafficking 
does not mean that they are guilty or have committed any offence.

Senator  Paul Gavan: I said that.

Mr. Dermot Conway: There was one prosecution of a fisherman in this State and he was 
found not guilty.  It is very important to remember that.

I would make a couple of comments about the Marine Survey Office logbooks.  Senator 
Gavan said there was a widespread failure to recognise a problem within the industry.  The 
Marine Survey Office logbooks have to do with crew composition and trips.  They have nothing 
to do with non-EEA fishermen authorisation within the State.  In fact, and I am sure the WRC 
will confirm this, we - by that I mean almost everyone on this side of the room - have attended 
at least two meetings with the WRC to discuss issues about certain documents the WRC was 
requesting.  Number one on the list was the MSO book because the MSO book contains infor-
mation about share fishermen as well as the non-EEA fishermen.  The owner-operators were 
warned there were data protection control issues over giving information which the WRC was 
not entitled to, and the WRC very correctly pointed out that it needed to make sure what the 
crew composition was on a boat, and that if somebody was a non-EEA national that it would be 
able to identify that person and be able to ascertain whether or not that person was legally work-
ing within the State.  Two meetings were held about that, because it was a compromise.  From 
my perspective, the Marine Survey Office, MSO, logbook is not the issue to be concerned about 
here.  The issue to be concerned about is whether or not there is enough uptake of non-EEA vi-
sas.  The second issue is whether or not there is a cohort of owners who are not complying with 
the legislation, and the third issue whether or not the representations made by the two organisa-
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tions the Senator referred to are fair and accurate.  We say that of course the observations being 
made are not fair.  The question then becomes whether or not they are accurate.  As someone 
who acts for the fishing industry and for the owners and representative bodies I do not pretend 
that there is not a single owner out there who is not capable of happily breaching the law.  What 
I am saying is that I can give evidence that 134 visas were applied for through my office alone.  
One does not need to do the maths to wonder, given the fact that if I did 134 visa applications 
and there are only 500 available, where the other non-EEA fishermen who are being dealt with 
by the system in some shape, fashion or form are.  By that I mean that the owner being pros-
ecuted for having someone illegally working on their place of work or the INIS dealing with the 
person who is unlawfully in the jurisdiction.

There are other issues, such as what roles the Naval Service, the MSO and the WRC are 
playing.  Are all these organisations simply not processing the evidence the Senator says exists 
that says that we, as an industry, are in denial?  The answer is that I do not think that the num-
bers stack up with the actions of the organs of the State.  The Naval Service has not prosecuted 
anybody for it.  The WRC has five had prosecutions, not 70.  The INIS is not dealing with any 
owner that I am aware of.  I act for a substantial number of them, and the representative bodies 
here would of course have contact with them.  The question begging to be asked is, does the 
evidence of the Migrants Rights Commission and that of the ITF stack up with the actions of 
the State?

Senator  Paul Gavan: And the Defence Forces.

Mr. Dermot Conway: I do not know whether the evidence of the Defence Forces is that 
they have asked non-EEA nationals to produce their letter of authorisation and they did not have 
it with them but they did have a letter somewhere else.

Senator  Paul Gavan: Perhaps the witness could look at this letter.  This is a letter from the 
European Union sectoral social dialogue committee, signed by both the employer’s organisa-
tion of fishers and the worker’s organisation, and it agrees that migrant fishers are subject to, I 
quote, “Abuse of vulnerability, deception, restriction of movement, isolation, intimidation and 
threats, retention of identity documents, withholding of wages, debt bondage, abusive working 
and living conditions, and excessive overtime”.  It is signed by the employer’s organisation as 
well as the employee’s organisation.  The witness needs to come out of the fog and recognise 
that there is a major problem with undocumented non-EEA workers.  It is here.

Mr. Dermot Conway: Again, we-----

Chairman: I will let the Senator back in in a moment.

Senator  Gerald Nash: We are here because there is a problem, and I am pleased that the 
witnesses are here to respond to some of the claims that were made just before the summer re-
cess.  I can assure Ms McIntyre that where the ITF or SIPTU has any evidence whatsoever in 
relation to suspected breaches or, indeed, any unlawful activity that that has been, to the best of 
my knowledge, passed on to the authorities, as should be the case.  I want to put on record that 
I have met some individuals who have claimed that they have been trafficked into this country 
and I, along with other colleagues, have taken the necessary action, as one would expect from 
a Member of the Oireachtas and from a responsible citizen, to bring those matters to the atten-
tion of the authorities.  I want to advise Ms McIntyre that where workers are designated as em-
ployees, trade unions such as the ITF and SIPTU are quite entitled to organise collectively with 
those workers and to seek to represent their interests.  That is a fundamental human right and 
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something that I do not believe anybody in this Chamber will apologise for.  It was a hard-won 
right which is defended by the Constitution and international law, and that happens within in a 
legal framework.  There are no passes for any industry in terms of the protection and vindica-
tion of the rights of anybody.  I hope that she would accept that.

Nobody here wants to see any kind of ritualistic hand wringing and declarations that there 
are no problems at all.  In fairness to some of the witnesses, they have recognised that there are 
some operators in the industry who do not uphold best practice, to put it charitably, and who 
are under suspicion for a whole host of reasons in terms of alleged breaches of this particular 
scheme and, indeed, much more serious elements of Irish legislation.  It is in the interests of the 
industry in general to accept that there is an issue and to work with the authorities to address it 
because it is in the interests of good operators in this industry to root out those rogue elements 
and to ensure the reputational damage to the Irish fishing industry is arrested and addressed.

It is probably useful at this point in time to perhaps reflect on some WRC figures presented 
to us, which I understand are publically available.  The WRC has only been statutorily respon-
sible for monitoring and regulating sectors of the industry since the introduction of the scheme.  
Going back to first principles, the whole idea of the scheme was to classify people who were 
working here, in some cases illegally, and give them some kind of a status, but classifying them 
as employees.  When they are classified as employees, the WRC as the labour inspectorate and 
the authority responsible for employment rights vindication in this country, takes responsibility 
for the way in which those workers are treated, at least from the perspective of employment 
rights.  The information we have today, which the witnesses may or may not have, suggests that 
there have been 232 inspections to date up to September of this year.  The scheme only went 
live in the middle of 2016.  That is a significant number of inspections.  Across a range of differ-
ent elements of employment rights legislation 198 contraventions were detected.  That is a very 
high non-compliance rate in anybody’s language.  The Naval Service had different responsibili-
ties for regulating the fisheries industry over the years, but this is new for the WRC because of 
the classification of employees in the sector.  In any person’s language that is extremely high, 
and we all have to be concerned when we see figures produced by the WRC in the course of 
its work which suggest that 29 individuals did not have the relevant permission to work.  The 
permission to work can mean a permit through the permit scheme or another type of arrange-
ment that would ensure these individuals are lawfully here.  That is high, and so is the reference 
to the fact that in the context of the 198 contraventions, 70 of them involved having no records 
whatsoever in their possession.  

Mr. Conway referred to the fact there are only a small number of prosecutions, at least at 
this point in time, which are being pursued by the WRC.  Of course, it is the function of the 
WRC to work with industry and trade unions to ensure there is compliance, and the WRC will 
comment on that later on today in terms of how that is working out.  I am very interested to hear 
their views on the record in that regard.  In anyone’s language, the numbers are high.  They are 
high for any sector.  This is notwithstanding the difficulties that some may have had in bedding 
down and understanding how this new system operates.  I know the WRC went to enormous 
lengths to work with the industry to brief it on what not just our expectations are but what the 
legal obligations of the industry operators are to the people who are working in their industry.

I would like to refer to a number of points made by the witnesses in the course of their 
contributions.  Mr. Murphy and Ms McIntyre referenced the need to expand the scheme to 
vessels under 15 m and 12 m, respectively.  That is worthy of consideration.  Senators Gavan 
and Reilly expressed the view that they are open to that.  It was also suggested that non-EEA 
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fishermen should be enabled to be share fishermen, which is an issue previously discussion by 
the committee.  I would be interested in hearing the witnesses elaborate on how that would be 
done.  This scheme was introduced in response to complaints by the ITF, other trade unions 
and the Guardian investigation which highlighted a number of issues in the sector, including 
allegations of exploitation of fishers, particularly those from non-EEA states.  I find it difficult 
to square that circle.  If a person continues to be a self-employed share fisherman and he or she 
has no status in this country how can we as a state afford that person the type of protections I 
believe every citizen in this country or anybody working here should be entitled to.  If the wit-
nesses have a view on how that circle can be squared I would be pleased to hear it.  I take a keen 
interest in this area at a policy level and I have not yet figured out how that could be permitted.

Mr. O’Donnell is on record over the years as identifying that it is very difficult to attract 
people to work in the fishing industry for a host of different reasons.  We all understand the con-
ditions are very difficult, that it is a unique industry in many respects and as such it is difficult 
to retain skilled and trained staff.  Pay is an issue in the sector.  There is no doubt about that.  
There are many fishing villages in my own constituency and I know that during the so-called 
boom years many people left fishing to work in construction and other sectors which were much 
more profitable and on their return to the fishing industry found it was not as profitable as when 
they have left it.  I understand people make decisions in terms of what is best for them and their 
families and so on.  That being the case, would the industry consider engaging in a sectoral 
employment order with those in the industry who seek to represent workers to ensure there is 
a basic statutory floor of pay and terms and conditions in the sector in order to retain staff and 
to promote the industry as a good employer and a sustainable industry?  This is something that 
the industry should consider and keep an open mind on.  We could be here all day and all year 
talking about the challenges the industry faces and how we can improve this scheme but at the 
end of the day fixing this scheme will not fix all the industry’s problems.  The industry has an 
issue in terms of sustainability of profitability in some sectors, on which I would like them to 
elaborate.  I understand and accept that.  Would it consider a collective agreement for the sec-
tor, which is enabled by the 2015 Industrial Relations Act to ensure that there is a basic floor of 
pay and terms and conditions in an industry about which it is clear all of the witnesses are very 
passionate?  If they are as passionate about the industry as I think they are they should consider 
that.  

I have a couple of questions for Mr. O’Donnell, to which some of the other witnesses might 
want to contribute as well.  Mr. O’Donnell indicated that he had been in contact with the former 
Minister for Justice and Equality, Deputy Fitzgerald, who is now the Minister for Business, 
Enterprise and Innovation in regard to various amendments to the scheme which he believes 
would enable it to work better.  Has he had any response from the Minister or any other Minister 
in recent months given that this issue has been front and centre in terms of public commentary?  
It seems that one of the problems is that there is no one Minister taking responsibility for the 
operation of this scheme or the improvement of it.  I have a theory as to why that is the case, 
which I will share with the witnesses later.  Has Mr. O’Donnell had any response on this issue?  
I want to him to be clear in that regard because what he says will help us to resolve the issues 
he is experiencing and the issues workers in the sector and the trade unions that represent them 
are experiencing.

How many non-EEA fishers are in the industry?  I am of the opinion that there are more than 
are covered by this scheme.  Does Mr. O’Donnell agree with the upper limit of 500 permits per 
annum provided for in the original scheme?  The official record suggests that far fewer permits 
have been applied for.  The original limit may have been garnered from contributions by the 
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industry at the meetings around design of the scheme.

Chairman: Before I call Mr. O’Donnell and Mr. Murphy to respond would Ms McIntyre 
or Mr. Boyle like to comment?

Ms Trudy McIntyre: No.

Mr. Hugo Boyle: I accept the Chairman’s comments about my presentation.  No insult to 
the committee intended as far as I was concerned.  The committee is doing great work.  I was 
pointing out that as we are part of the organisations and subject matter under discussion I found 
it odd that we were not invited to attend that presentation.  We had to request an opportunity to 
attend this meeting to make a presentation today.

Chairman: In fairness, we had decided to invite the Irish South and East Fish Producers Or-
ganisation to this meeting.  During the past year, the committee has dealt with a lot of issues in 
regard to Brexit, employment law, banded hour contracts and so on.  We do not want to engage 
in meetings with opposing sides side by side because we will get nothing done.  We have to give 
the right of reply to all people who make representations to us and that is what we are about 
today.  We are delighted the Irish South and East Fish Producers Organisation is here today.

Mr. Hugo Boyle: I thank the Chairman.  I was responding to what seemed to us to be false 
and scurrilous accusations.  There was some strong language used in that particular presenta-
tion.

Chairman: Now is Mr. Boyle’s opportunity to reply.

Mr. Hugo Boyle: The words, “slave”, “black” and “dog” were used in relation to non-EEA 
workers.  We were annoyed about that, which I suppose was reflected in my presentation.

Chairman: That is a fair point.  I call Mr Murphy.

Mr. Patrick Murphy: I would like to respond to Senator Nash.  In regard to share fisher-
men, before the scheme was implemented these people were employed in the same way and 
treated in the same way as the other share fishermen on the boat, such that they got a share in 
the percentage of the catch.  They were treated no better or no worse than other people.  The 
point I was making was that in introducing this scheme the work they had chosen to sign up 
was changed.

On the issue of trafficking, I am not long in my position and as such I am playing catch up.  
As I said earlier to Senator Gavan, I am not aware of the figures he mentioned.  I have never 
seen them and so it would be unfair of me to comment.  I apologise if I misheard the Senator 
and quoted 13 instead of 19.  As far as I am aware, as shown in the case of Ms McIntyre’s fa-
ther’s challenge in the courts, fishermen worked through an agent from the country who paid 
fees to bring the workers in, and the workers agreed terms and conditions with the person who 
brought them into the country.  This is deemed to be trafficking.  There could be a misconcep-
tion by the general public that fishermen went over, smuggled guys in crates and boxes and 
brought them into the country.  That was not the case.  The fishermen of this country operated 
in the only system that was available to them at the time.  When it was found out that this sys-
tem was not correct, we negotiated and tried to get to work with the task force.  As I stated, 
there was only one meeting I was aware of where industry was actually involved in the setting 
up of this.  As my colleague here has pointed out in the letters, every time we saw there was a 
problem there, we initiated contact with the Departments as asked to, to see if it could be recti-
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fied.  We believe that we are definitely trying to represent the best interests of every fisherman 
in this country, regardless of what people deem as colour, creed or where they come from.  We 
try to treat everybody equally, yet the Senator said that he believes that no industry is immune 
to wrong-doers within the industry.  We have not said that.  We have not claimed that there have 
not been wrong-doers.  As Mr. O’Donnell has clarified, when we come across something like 
that, we too insist - that is why we have said “united” here - that any information that points to 
it should be brought to the relevant authorities and we will comply.

Chairman: In fairness, Senator Reilly said that.  He also said, and I think we are all in 
agreement, that we need to weed out those who are bringing the industry into ill repute.

Mr. Patrick Murphy: Absolutely.

Chairman: We are all on the side of the fishermen and the fisherwomen.  They are an in-
digenous part of our industry.  The reason we are here today is to try to weed out those people, 
move on and work with the industry.  Mr O’Donnell-----

Mr. Patrick Murphy: I wish to give some information.  I am looking at the make-up of the 
Irish fishing fleet here.  There are 1,506 vessels in the polyvalent sector.  Of those vessels, 1,287 
are 12 metres and below.  The number of vessels above that-----

Chairman: Will Mr. Murphy give those figures again please?

Mr. Patrick Murphy: The total number in the polyvalent seiner section of the fishing fleet 
of Ireland is 1,506 vessels.  Some 1,287 of those vessels are 12 metres and under and 219 of 
those vessels are above 12 metres.  I cannot give a breakdown of those 219 vessels and how 
many are actually below 15 metres, since I did not prepare that.  As the Chairman can imagine, 
she said that she believes there are many more non-EU workers on the scheme.  Even if one 
gives an average of 438 people, that is putting two of these non-EU workers in every single boat 
in the fleet above 12 metres.  As we said earlier, the figures do not seem to stack up.  Of course, 
we cannot challenge these figures.  They are not presented or given to us, but if the committee 
gives us the opportunity, we can come back to it and explain that.  That is recorded about the 
fleet.

Mr. Francis O’Donnell: Senator Nash raised a number of issues.  To start with, unfortu-
nately, every time there is a media report about this issue, I get the calls from journalists.  I 
have been fighting a rear guard action for a number of years on this.  I have gone on radio and 
made it very clear that there probably are rogue operators in the Irish fishing industry, like any 
other industry, and that they needed to be weeded out.  Those are the words that I used on RTÉ 
about this.  I have been frustrated myself.  We went in and presented in front of the task force.  
We initially thought we would be part of that task force.  Like other organisations, we gave our 
view as to how we thought this should be rolled out.  Like any scheme, after a period of time, 
there should be a review of that to see how it is working for everybody, for the employee, for the 
employer and for the State itself.  That has not happened.  In fact, the task force was disbanded 
and I wrote to Deputy Frances Fitzgerald to try to get everybody into a room.  I was not asking 
to control who was going to be there but for somebody to take the lead on this to get us into a 
room and to get us talking about it.  I was personally concerned that the structure of the permit 
system left migrant workers very exposed.  A permit is a person’s permit.  If it is assigned to just 
one vessel and that is written into law then that person, technically, if he or she falls out with 
the master of the vessel, is in serious trouble and could find himself or herself on the side of a 
pier, homeless, and would be a major burden on the State.  That person would be in real trouble 
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with no money.

Senator  Gerald Nash: Which has happened in some cases?  That may be the-----

Mr. Francis O’Donnell: I was not-----

Senator  Gerald Nash: I say that to agree with Mr. O’Donnell in that that may be one of 
the flaws in the scheme if somebody is in difficulty with his or her employer, that things happen.

Mr. Francis O’Donnell: I have never been afraid to put it in writing and to try to tease 
out the very serious issues here.  Many of my vessels in their very early stages would have 
had non-EEA workers on board.  I would not say it was an open secret but it was known that 
people were working in the country in 2006 in the fishing industry who were here illegally.  We 
are on record in 2008 for writing to Fianna Fáil at the time asking for this to be looked at and 
addressed.  We have done that on numerous occasions since.  We could not say that it was not 
happening prior to 2006 and I cannot honestly say that it is still not happening now, but we are 
trying to do something about it.  That is where we are.  Nobody has responded to us.  No one 
Minister is responsible.

I welcome what has happened here today because it has teased out some of the issues.  I 
think we have to be fair.  It is not that we are coming in and saying that we are angels.  We are 
not saying that at all, but the arms of the State that are charged with policing and managing 
this have to be given due process and a fair crack at dealing with the problems.  I said it myself 
on record.  This is not about the industry and the International Transport Workers’ Federation, 
ITF, or anybody else.  I am more than willing to go with Ken Fleming or anybody else into any 
Garda station in this country and hand over any information or files because this is extremely 
damaging to us.  Somebody, at some point, has to present the information, give it to the authori-
ties and let justice take its course.  The committee will not hear me saying that this should not 
happen or is wrong.

I remember one of the first raids that happened in Howth and Castletownbere.  Everybody 
here knows about it.  I was quite critical of the Garda approach at that time.  They came on board 
fishing vessels with automatic weapons, sidearms and Alsatians.  They inspected the vessels to 
see where employers were breaching the atypical working scheme or, even worse, if they had 
people on board who did not have visas.  I felt it was very heavy-handed.  I made a complaint 
to GSOC at the time because I felt there were other ways of doing this.  Uniformed members of 
An Garda Síochána could have come down onto fishing vessels and carried out the inspections.  
I felt that it did not need that level of force.  The job could have been done just as well.  We were 
on the back foot again because this made international news: Alsatians and automatic weapons 
made the industry look very bad.  In hindsight, I look back at it and think that it was not a bad 
thing.  We had a very serious problem with all of these undocumented people.  Nobody knew 
that this was happening.  My phone started ringing that morning.  I do not believe anybody was 
tipped off about this whatsoever.  It was as much of a shock for us as it was for everybody else.

If there were thousands of migrant workers in Ireland who were undocumented, surely at 
two of our major fishing ports, Castletownbere and Howth - Howth probably is not that big - 
this would start to surface and would have surfaced since.  There may be some problems and 
there may be rogue operators, but at the moment we find ourselves here in front of the commit-
tee because there has really been no mechanism to address the issues if they are there.  Nobody 
is taking responsibility and we have asked.  We have not been sitting idle on this because we 
know it is very damaging.  We are frustrated because we are not in a position actually to see the 
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evidence and get to the bottom of it.

Senator  Aidan Davitt: I know there are many personal stories and family-based stories 
there.  Some of it was quite balanced, including the opening comments and the different aspects 
of work involved, and different concerns the witnesses have had.  I appreciate Mr. Boyle’s clari-
fication with regard to his statement.  I know he gave his reason why.  He did not know he was 
going to be called, but we had decided a while ago that we would take both parties, but we have 
to take them one at a time, as the Chair has explained, so I suppose that can be a misunderstand-
ing.  I appreciate his clarification.

I have a couple of minor questions.  I am a landlubber from Mullingar and would not be as 
au fait with the issues as my friends from Limerick and other places closer to the sea.  We have 
heard from fish producers’ organisations but are there other large organisations which could not 
come today, which would not come or which were not invited?  Do the witnesses represent the 
main body of fishermen?

Is it not possible to recruit other people from within the EU, as has always been the case with 
farm workers?  The witnesses will probably say it is not, which is why they use the scheme.  
There are similarities with farming as workers also work different hours and we have heard 
from the equine industry in that regard recently.  There was an influx of people from Poland to 
work in agriculture so I am curious as to why that has not been the case in fishing.

Deputy  Maurice Quinlivan: I thank the witnesses for the presentation.  We are not here to 
have a go at them but to try to arrive at a solution.  The previous presentations were distressing 
for a number of us so I am glad the witnesses have come here to tell us their side of the story.

I am aware that the numbers quoted were a surprise and that the witnesses were not aware of 
the documentation we received.  We will hear a presentation from the Defence Forces later and 
they will give us the documentation.  Were the witnesses surprised that only 29% of people had 
the letter on board when they were investigated by the Defence Forces?  What documentation 
are fishermen supposed to carry on board?

Mr. Boyle said if anybody knows something and does not come forward with it they are aid-
ing and abetting criminality and should be answerable to the Garda.  Is he or anybody in his or-
ganisation aware of any criminality and has he gone to the Garda about it?  Has Mr. O’Donnell 
been in discussions with Mr. Ken Fleming on the issue?  Is he willing to talk to him?

Deputy  Tom Neville: I thank Mr. Boyle for clarifying his comments.  I come to this issue 
in a fresh way and my question is quite similar to that of Deputy Quinlivan.  Mr. Murphy used 
the word “traders” from outside the jurisdiction in respect of trafficking and said skippers would 
go to traders to identify workers to bring back into the country.

Mr. Patrick Murphy: I did not use that word.

Deputy  Tom Neville: I apologise if I have misquoted Mr. Murphy.  Is there litigation from 
our own jurisdiction in respect of vetting?  Is there anything in the pipeline?  It is something we 
need to know.  Mr. Conway mentioned applications for visas in 2016 but I did not get the finer 
points of what he was saying or whether this was in or out of the jurisdiction.  Can he clarify?  
Whose responsibility is the paperwork on board?  Is it the boat owner’s, the skipper’s or the 
worker’s?

Deputy  Bríd Smith: I missed the presentations as I was somewhere else.  What familiarity 
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do the witnesses have with workers who are brought in from abroad to work in the industry?  
Allegations have been made against the industry, which the witnesses refute and about which 
they are pretty annoyed, saying that the evidence does not bear it out.  They are in a very com-
petitive industry and there are huge pressures, globally and locally, not to mention the question 
of fishing resources with the sea losing resources on a yearly basis.  The sea has been over-
fished and fishermen are not catching as much as they would have done previously.  As native 
Irishmen and Irishwomen, they will have noticed that other industries have exploited foreign 
workers, such as the building industry, the au pair industry and many others.  People will re-
member the Gama workers from Turkey some years ago and there have been investigations 
into migrant workers in the domestic and hospitality industries.  It is not unusual in industries 
that are coming under pressure and are competitive.  I would not find it at all unusual if there 
was evidence of exploitation within this industry but I would not find it acceptable.  What is the 
opinion of witnesses on the abuse and misuse of labour from other countries?  Do they regard it 
as something that happens because they cannot control everything or do they abhor it and think 
it should never happen, and should be totally outlawed and policed properly?  I was familiar 
with an element of the fishing industry on a small scale and I witnessed widespread use of mi-
grant labour, not always on equal terms to those from our native land.  What are the witnesses’ 
opinions on that?  I am not accusing them of anything.

Chairman: There are quite a lot of questions so perhaps each of the witnesses can take a 
selection.

Mr. Francis O’Donnell: I have been in discussions, on and off, with Mr. Ken Fleming over 
the past two years.  The relationship has been good at times and, at other times, a little strained 
but it has always been professional.  I wrote the letter to the Minister, Deputy Fitzgerald, in the 
knowledge that if I had succeeded in getting a meeting of stakeholders into the room, Mr. Ken 
Fleming would have been there and I would talk to him.

Mr. Patrick Murphy: Deputy Neville said I used the word “traders” but the word I used 
was “agents”.  This is a family business and the person in question is from the Philippines.  His 
mother is also involved in bringing over workers, not just for the fishing industry and not just 
to Ireland but for many areas and industries.  They set up contracts in their own country, where 
there are different rules.  Members can ask the WRC about this but it told us that if we do not 
pay a person but pay a third party instead, it can be construed as trafficking.  There was no other 
system of getting workers.  The Deputy asked about EU workers and, of course, there are EU 
workers but figures suggesting 500 or 600 non-EU workers surprise us.  Given the number of 
vessels in our fleet, they do not add up.

Deputy  Tom Neville: There was no other system whereby the industry could get non-EEA 
workers than the by the use of this one agency.

Mr. Patrick Murphy: The industry acted and looked for letters of proof.  We looked for 
a system to be brought into place in 2008.  It was before my taking up my position.  Surely 
it shows the intent of the industry.  Of course we are willing to do this.  We are passionate 
about our industry.  Every one of us is.  Mr. Boyle was a fisherman and I was a fisherman.  Mr. 
O’Donnell was involved in the fishing industry in a different capacity.  Ms Trudy McIntyre 
fished and she is the daughter of a fisherman.  Her husband is a fisherman.  We are passionate 
about this industry because it is relevant to us.  I am still involved in the industry.  I went to 
aquaculture, inshore fishing.  I have participated in the industry and I know what it is like.

On the abuses, Deputy Bríd Smith missed the report Ms Trudy McIntyre gave.  Fishing is 
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unpredictable.  A share fisherman is taking a gamble and does not know what he will catch.  
There are enough restrictions on the way fishermen fish and hunter-gather fish.  There are so 
many regulations and rules pertaining to the amount of fish a person is allowed to catch that it 
makes it difficult enough.  A person is not guaranteed as a share fisherman but he is aware of 
what he is undertaking when he goes to sea to fish.

Ms Norah Parke: On a point of information on the agents who were crucial in the recruit-
ment of non-EEA personnel, certainly until recently, we feel we are victims of big generali-
sations.  I do not want to do the same to the agents, particularly in Asia, but the business is 
renowned for bad practice and the exploitation of the people who would be put in touch with 
possible employers in this part of the world.  The stories we have heard from that end of the 
business make what could possibly happen here pale into insignificance.  That is not to say two 
wrongs make a right.  That is not the case.

This has had quite an impact on how all this business has grown over the years.  It would 
be well worth keeping in mind that this also needs to be investigated.  At the last meeting of 
the Santa Marta Group in June, I spoke to the deputy director and he agreed with me whole-
heartedly.  The following week he was going to the South China Sea to investigate some of the 
bad practices there to determine whether those responsible could be prevented from supplying 
labour to Europe.

Chairman: Was there a question from Deputies Quinlivan and Neville on paperwork?  
What are the acceptable levels of paperwork?

Senator  Paul Gavan: Is there any report from the visit?

Ms Norah Parke: The visit was only in June and I have not heard anything from the Santa 
Marta Group since on it.

Chairman: Will one of the witnesses address the issue of paperwork?

Mr. Dermot Conway: Traditionally, prior to the commencement of this scheme, the basic 
paperwork that had to be on a vessel had to include the fishing documents of the vessel - the 
certificate of registration, the licence, the logbook, the Marine Survey Office logbook - along 
with the basic safety training cards for each member of the crew.  On foreign vessels, there 
would have been identification papers because of language issues.  With the scheme having 
come into play, it is not entirely clear to what extent the Navy, in particular, has communicated 
to the owners that they must have a certain type of paperwork on board.  Likewise, an awful lot 
of the back-office work documents of a trawler, such as payslips and accounts, would not be on 
board.  Those documents would tend to be at the owner’s place of business or work and would 
not be on the boat at all.

With regard to identification documents for migrant non-EEA workers, they must have their 
basic safety training course card which is issued by Bord Iascaigh Mhara.  The card is not 
transferable from another jurisdiction to this one.  One has to acquire it in this jurisdiction.  The 
second document one would expect crew to have on board is the identification paper.

Certainly, the question has never been asked of me whether the non-EEA fishermen have 
to have their letters of authorisation on board.  I am frequently asked to send on a copy of the 
letter of authorisation because the owner has lost it.  I have frequently been asked to send it on 
because the crew member has lost it but I have never been asked whether the crew member has 
to have it at sea.  The answer is that I have never come across a legal requirement for the non-
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EEA person to have it at sea.  I have never been asked whether the owner or master has to ensure 
the non-EEA crew member has it at sea.  It is a curious question because, ultimately, this is the 
original atypical worker scheme, with the fishermen added on.  The original atypical worker 
scheme applied to a totally different type of business, such as a restaurant.  In that case, the of-
fice is in the restaurant.  It would be expected that the documentation would be available there.

As I said, I would be very interested to know whether the 70 fishermen on board the ves-
sels in question had a visa but did not have the letter of authorisation.  Those are obviously two 
distinct documents.  Not having paperwork and being illegally on board is one matter but not 
having paperwork and being legally on board is an entirely different matter.  I do not know the 
answer because I had not heard the number mentioned in any way before.

The other question I was asked was about the agents, particularly in the Philippines.  Egypt 
and the Philippines are the two main locations from which the non-EEA fishermen are com-
ing.  That is not an exclusive list but those are the main two.  When we first got involved with 
the visa scheme, we were attending a meeting with the WRC and I had come across several 
so-called manning agencies in the Philippines, not Egypt.  It was stated that for the fishermen 
to get a visa to leave the Philippines to work for an owner in Ireland, they had to be registered 
with a manning agency.  The manning agency, in turn, was looking for 80% of all the wages to 
be repatriated to the Philippines.  Ostensibly, discounting the agency fee, the money was going 
to the family of the fisherman.  Ultimately, when we consulted the WRC, as Patrick Murphy has 
already indicated, it made it abundantly clear that this is not a relationship that would be toler-
ated by it.  Certainly as far as the IFPO was concerned, that was communicated to its members.  
I am certain that is the case for the other producer organisations.  The matter was clarified at a 
very early stage.  There is no doubt that there were some fishermen here under the arrangement 
in question.  When the arrangement became the subject of sharp focus because the fishermen 
were now employees rather than self-employed, the clarification was sought and given.  It was 
certainly communicated at that point.

The manning agencies still exist.  My inquiries tell me that, under Philippines law, that is 
how one gets out of the country to go work.  It is certainly the national policy of the Philippines 
because it is very involved in the merchant navy as well as the fishing navy.  It has a stated 
national policy of having a percentage of all seafarers across the world coming from the Philip-
pines.  That is where the manning agencies allegedly come from.  As far as we are concerned, 
the WRC has made it very clear that the relationship is not tolerated, and that it will not be 
tolerated.

Senator Aidan Davitt: I asked two brief questions, and I would appreciate it if Mr. 
O’Donnell could answer them.

Mr. Francis O’Donnell: I was going to come back to them.  There were so many questions.

Senator  Aidan Davitt: Many points were repeated over and over again.

Mr. Francis O’Donnell: The Senator asked a question about the mixture of crew.  In some 
cases, it may be 50% Irish and 50% non-EEA.  It can be a mixture of European nationalities.  In 
many cases, there are vessels with an all-Irish crew.  We also have vessels with non-EEA work-
ers.  They are getting what is required under law, plus a bonus.

Chairman: What is average crew size for a vessel under 15 m?

Mr. Francis O’Donnell: Under 15 m, it is probably four or five.  It depends.  There are 
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probably an average of five or six on a vessel above 15 m.

Senator  Aidan Davitt: On that point, is it just not possible to get someone from within the 
EU to work?

Mr. Francis O’Donnell: No.  We have plenty of people from the EU working on Irish 
fishing vessels, and Irish crew also.  Not all our fisheries are fished unsustainably.  In fact, that 
whole story has been reversed.  Some of our fisheries are quite lucrative and some are quite 
strong.  In some cases, we have crew members earning €40,000 to €60,000 per year, I am sure.  
This is a good average wage.  That would not be the case on some other vessels because of fish-
ing opportunities.  There are various reasons, parameters and drivers that result in some vessels 
not having the same opportunities.

Senator  Aidan Davitt: I am just trying to gain an understanding.  Some of the Irish meat 
factories just cannot get EU workers, including Irish workers, to work in them.  These workers 
just do not want to do the heavy work.  That is why I am asking the question.

Mr. Francis O’Donnell: There are other reasons for that.  Not to be sexist but it is a pre-
dominantly male-orientated profession.  It is very hard work involving rough weather and liv-
ing on a boat for a period of time so it is not that attractive to people.  Younger people are 
going off, getting educated, getting degrees and doing other things on dry land so it is not for 
everybody and sometimes it can be difficult.  For example, if the economy is strong, and we are 
going into that sort of a period-----

Senator  Aidan Davitt: You will get-----

Mr. Francis O’Donnell: It is becoming more difficult.  We have noticed that in the past 18 
months.

Senator  Aidan Davitt: My second question was whether any other Irish fish-producing 
organisation is missing from the table today.

Mr. Francis O’Donnell: No, there is no other organisation missing but there are fishing 
vessels outside producer organisations that are not affiliated with anybody.  We find it difficult 
enough to control our own sometimes but we certainly would have no control over them.

Chairman: Senator Nash should make his last point because we have another session to 
get through.

Senator  Gerald Nash: It concerns a minor point made by Mr. Conway but is important 
nonetheless.  I do not think the WRC or anybody else would expect the witnesses to hold the 
entirety of the paperwork they are required to have on a vessel.  I may stand corrected on this 
but certainly the WRC would not expect individual permit holders to hold their permits on the 
vessel at all times.  I know those matters are followed up if it is the case that an inspection is 
made.  The figures I mentioned earlier indicate that in terms of the 198 contraventions detected 
from the commencement of the scheme to 8 September 2017, 29 of them involved no permis-
sion to work.  However, I see further figures that may clarify that and these apply to contraven-
tions detected that are closed cases so the WRC has closed the book on them.  Where the WRC 
followed up on those issues, it turned out that 12 out of the 29 involved no permission to work.

Mr. Dermot Conway: I notice that the original visa a person gets is for 12 months and they 
must renew it.  I notice that, be it deliberate or otherwise, there was some forgetfulness on the 
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part of some owners regarding the renewal process.  They had originally applied for permission 
but, of course, once those 12 months are up, the permission is gone.  That may also feed into 
that number.

Senator  Gerald Nash: So it seems that the WRC, which can clarify this later, has con-
cluded that, at least in terms of its own inspections and investigations, 12 individuals had no 
permission to work and not 29, as I stated earlier.

Mr. Francis O’Donnell: Deputy Bríd Smith asked a question.  I cannot remember; I apolo-
gise if she has been here from the outset.  In terms of stating clearly a position about migrant 
workers or anybody else, in my opening statement I said I stress that neither I nor the IFPO in 
any way condone the mistreatment of any employee, either Irish or non-EEA, within our indus-
try or any other.

Deputy  Bríd Smith: My question was a bit long-winded but part of what I was asking 
Mr. O’Donnell was whether he is surprised when he hears of incidents of exploitation in his 
industry.

Mr. Francis O’Donnell: Am I surprised?  I am surprised about it now.  I probably would 
not have been surprised about it two years ago when I heard it or prior to the atypical working 
scheme coming in because there were no controls.  If a genuine person told me, I would say 
that I would have to accept that as probably being true but I would be surprised about it now.

Deputy  Bríd Smith: So Mr. O’Donnell does not believe it happens now.

Mr. Francis O’Donnell: I am on record as saying that some rogue operators could be doing 
that.  We certainly would not support that.  This is why I have been pushing to have this meet-
ing.  I wrote to this committee asking whether we could come before it to give our side of the 
story and, most importantly, the gardaí and the WRC are assisted fully.  If I have the informa-
tion, I will give it.  If the ITF has it, it needs to give it.  If the Migrant Rights Centre has it, it 
needs to give it.  We cannot all be working in a vacuum here.

Chairman: I thank the witnesses for coming before us to engage with the committee.

  Sitting suspended at 4.45 p.m. and resumed at 4.50 p.m.

Chairman: I welcome Dr. Susan Steele, chairperson of the Sea-Fisheries Protection Au-
thority, SFPA, Mr. Micheál O’Mahony, authority member, Ms Margaret Stanley, PO in the Na-
val Service section in the Department of Defence, Commander Martin McGrath, Naval Service, 
and Mr. Brian Hogan, chief surveyor at the Marine Survey Office, to this meeting on non-EEA 
crew in the Irish fishing fleet under the atypical worker permission scheme and related matters.

Before commencing, and in accordance with procedure, I am required to bring the witness-
es’ attention to the fact that, by virtue of section 17(2)(l) of the Defamation Act 2009, witnesses 
are protected by absolute privilege in respect of their evidence to the committee.  However, if 
they are directed by it to cease giving evidence on a particular matter and they continue to do 
so, they are entitled thereafter only to a qualified privilege in respect of their evidence.  They 
are directed that only evidence connected with the subject matter of these proceedings is to 
be given and are asked to respect the parliamentary practice to the effect that, where possible, 
they should not criticise or make charges against any person, persons or entity by name or in 
such a way as to make him, her or it identifiable.  Members are reminded of the long-standing 
parliamentary practice to the effect that they should not comment on, criticise or make charges 
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against a person outside the Houses or an official either by name or in such a way as to make 
him or her identifiable.

I remind our guests that their presentations should be no more than five minutes in duration.  
The presentations have been circulated to members today.  I invite Dr. Steele to begin.

Dr. Susan Steele: I thank the committee members.  The SFPA is the independent statutory 
body responsible for the regulation of the sea fisheries and the seafood production sectors.  It 
promotes compliance with the EU Common Fisheries Policy, sea fisheries law and food safety 
law relating to fish and fish products, verifies compliance and, where necessary, enforces it.  As 
a State agency, we come under the Department of Agriculture, Food and the Marine.

The SFPA’s mandate covers all fishing vessels operating within Ireland’s 200-mile limit and 
more than 2,000 Irish-registered fishing vessels wherever they operate.  Our fisheries controls 
are focused on the landing and subsequent sale of fish in Ireland.  We are dependent on the Irish 
Naval Service and Air Corps under the terms of an agreed service-level agreement for fishery 
controls at sea.  As a coastal state, Ireland has fishery protection obligations for the entire Irish 
EEZ, within which lies some of the richest fishing grounds in the EU.

In terms of seafood safety, our role covers the Irish seafood sector as a whole up to, but not 
including, retail.  It involves inspections of primary food producers such as fishermen and fish 
farmers and Ireland’s 170 seafood processing companies.  Our remit includes the implemen-
tation of European hygiene package legislation as well as the inspection and health certifica-
tion of export consignments going outside the EU.  Under service contract to the Food Safety 
Authority of Ireland, the SFPA is responsible for audits and inspections of food businesses, 
including vessels, in the seafood sector to assess compliance with food safety legislation.  Our 
seafood role also extends to verifying compliance with product labelling regulations, including 
geographical origin and species declaration.

The authority implements the national microbiological monitoring and classification pro-
gramme for shellfish production areas and, in collaboration with the Marine Institute and 
molluscan shellfish safety committee, the national marine biotoxin monitoring programme to 
manage food safety risk of biotoxins and micro-organisms in molluscs farmed or harvested in 
Ireland.

The SFPA employs more than 90 people between its headquarters in Clonakilty, County 
Cork, and its offices in the major ports around the coast: Castletownbere, Dingle, Ros a Mhíl, 
Killybegs, Howth and Dunmore East, with 77 warranted sea fishery officers.

Regarding the atypical workers scheme, because we are one of the agencies with an ongo-
ing presence on piers and fishing vessels, the SFPA was a signatory in 2015 to the interagency 
memorandum of understanding, MOU, for the monitoring and enforcement of the terms of 
employment of non-EEA crewmen in parts of the Irish commercial sea fishing fleet pursuant 
to the establishment of the atypical worker permission scheme.  Arising from the MOU, a risk 
profiling and inspection group was established, and the SFPA has continued to participate with 
that group actively.  Our resultant role is one of information sharing with the group.  In practical 
terms, this might involve providing information on instances that may arise in the course of our 
normal inspections to verify compliance with fishery obligations.  For example, we might ob-
serve indications of labour law breaches or receive information to that effect.  In such instances, 
we have agreed to inform other members of the risk profiling group.  Furthermore, if there is 
a vessel of interest identified by that group, the SFPA has agreed to provide data that are avail-
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able to us for fishery control purposes.  This could include vessel position or pre-notification 
of landing in order to ensure effective risk-based targeting by the relevant regulator.  The SFPA 
does not carry out inspections to examine compliance with the terms of the atypical workers 
scheme specifically.

We would like to make the committee aware of a particular initiative undertaken by the 
SFPA.  Following a survey of the fishing industry that indicated a preference for more direct 
and personal communication, we set up a series of information events covering all of the major 
fishing regions and invited all local members of the sea fishing and seafood industry.  In order 
to create a one-stop-shop for industry, we invited all relevant State agencies to attend.  Some of 
the participants at these information sessions included the Workplace Relations Commission, 
WRC, Naval Service, Department of Agriculture, Food and the Marine, Revenue, Customs 
and Excise, and Inland Fisheries Ireland as well as other relevant State agencies.  Fishermen, 
therefore, had an opportunity to discuss any issue or concern directly with the WRC and other 
marine regulatory agencies at these sessions.

One particular aspect of overlap between our work in fishery protection and the matter of 
concern at this meeting is the provision in specific sea fishing licences for Irish vessels that over 
50% of the crew must be EU citizens.  As this is included in the fishing licence, it is one of the 
checks that falls within fishery control verifications but is more amenable to verification at sea.

Our legal mandate and allocated Exchequer funding are for the primary purpose of imple-
menting fishery and food safety law and we have neither a mandate nor legal authority to verify 
compliance with labour law, including the atypical workers scheme.  We do, however, have an 
ongoing regulatory presence on fishing vessels landing at Irish ports and we have proactively 
engaged with aligned State agencies to maximise our contribution to the State’s role in that 
regard.

Chairman: I thank Dr. Steele.  I invite Ms Stanley to make her presentation.

Ms Margaret Stanley: I thank the committee.  I am an official in the Department of De-
fence and am speaking on behalf of my Department and the Naval Service.  I am here today to 
present a picture of the work of the Naval Service in the context of non-EEA crew in the Irish 
fishing fleet under the atypical worker permission scheme and related matters.  In order to pro-
vide a clear picture, I would like to give some details relating to the role of the Defence Forces 
and in particular the Naval Service.

The Naval Service is the State’s principal sea-going agency.  Its primary day-to-day tasking 
is to provide a fishery protection service, in accordance with national legislation and the State’s 
obligations as a member of the European Union.

The Naval Service is empowered to board and inspect all fishing vessels and their catch in 
the Irish exclusive economic zone, EEZ, and, when necessary, to detain vessels formally and 
direct them to port for arrest by An Garda Síochána.  The power to do this derives from the Sea-
Fisheries and Maritime Jurisdiction Act 2006.  The Naval Service flotilla consists of eight ships, 
each of which operates an average of 185 days on patrol, termed “on sailing order”, per year, 
that is, days away from the naval base.  These days are divided into what are termed “patrols”.  
Each patrol is on average 26 consecutive days where the ships patrol up to the 200 nautical mile 
limit of the State, and at times beyond this limit when ships are engaged in other fisheries or 
maritime defence and security operations.  The total area patrolled is approximately 1 million 
km2.  During these 26 day patrols, the ships will only come close to land due to severe weather, 
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to rest the crew when there is fatigue or to take on provisions.

The Naval Service is empowered to board and inspect all fishing vessels and their catch.  
During an onboard inspection the Naval Service will collect information relating to licences, 
the vessel, crew and gear among other things.  A copy of the inspection report completed by the 
Naval Service is provided to the master of the fishing vessel on completion of the inspection.

Naval Service boarding officers undertake this work as authorised sea fisheries protection 
officers in accordance with the Sea-Fisheries and Maritime Jurisdiction Act 2006.  Section 18 
of this Act, among other powers, authorises sea fisheries protection officers to board fishing ves-
sels and gather crew details.  The gathering of crew details is routine on Irish registered fishing 
vessels to ensure compliance with fishing licences which requires at least 50% of crews on Irish 
fishing vessels to be nationals of any of the member states of the European Union.

The Naval Service also acts as the official agency with responsibility for the operation of 
Ireland’s Fisheries Monitoring Centre, FMC.  The FMC is located at the naval base, Haul-
bowline, Cork.  This fisheries monitoring responsibility is carried out as part of a service level 
agreement between the Department of Defence, the Naval Service and the Sea Fisheries Protec-
tion Authority, SFPA.  The FMC carries out monitoring and surveillance of all vessels equipped 
with a vessel monitoring system, VMS, that are operating in the Irish EEZ and also of all Irish 
vessels operating in any jurisdiction.  Monitoring and surveillance includes the entry and exit 
by all fishing vessels in the Irish EEZ.

The Naval Service, through its patrols, also undertakes a variety of functions in the maritime 
domain in accordance with its role in contributing to maritime security.  This includes the provi-
sion of support to other Departments and agencies such the Department of Transport, Tourism 
and Sport, An Garda Síochána and the Revenue Commissioners.  With regard to the issue that 
brings us here today, in late 2015 a Government task force chaired by the then Minister for 
Agriculture, Food and the Marine published a report with recommendations on a new scheme 
to address the employment of non-EEA workers in the Irish fishing fleet.  The objective of the 
scheme is to minimise the potential for the abuse of migrant workers by unscrupulous employ-
ers and to provide a mechanism to assist those currently in Ireland who are in difficult situations 
to enter a new employment relationship.

On foot of a recommendation of the task force that the role of the relevant key enforcement 
bodies be underpinned by an interagency memorandum of understanding, MoU, the Depart-
ment of Defence, Naval Service, signed up to the “Memorandum of Understanding for the 
monitoring and enforcement of the terms of the Employment of non-EEA crew in parts of the 
Irish Commercial Sea Fishing Fleet pursuant to the establishment of the Atypical Work Per-
mit scheme”.  The purpose of the MoU is to provide for further coordination and cooperation 
between the parties to ensure the effective and efficient enforcement of statutory requirements 
relating to employment of non-EEA nationals on Irish-registered fishing vessels on the EU 
fishing vessel register and, in particular, to prevent the trafficking and exploitation of non-EEA 
workers on such vessels.  It is also to further facilitate effective communication and exchange of 
relevant information in regard to the operations I have described above, avoid any unnecessary 
duplication of effort, support a coherent and transparent cross-Government approach, maximise 
synergies from the actions of all signatories and promote and support compliance.  Within this 
MoU, it was codified that the roles and responsibilities of the Naval Service are:

physical inspection of active fishing vessels at sea...in line with risk assessments under-
taken to best target those vessels which, through their actions and indications via electronic 
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monitoring of their vessel activities, might be consistent with a risk of noncompliance with 
the rules in force in relation to their fishing area, target species or any other relevant Euro-
pean Union or national requirement.  The inspections are required to physically check and 
record all findings in line with the specific detail as outlined in the EU Inspection Report as 
directed in Annex XXVII of EU Regulation 404/2011...

It is important to note that, as detailed earlier, the Naval Service already routinely collects 
significant amounts of information, including crew information, as part of its sea-fisheries 
protection role.  Following the implementation of the MoU, the Naval Service provides details 
of Non-EEA crews it encounters on Irish fishing vessels during the course of its boarding op-
erations at sea to the SFPA.  Information relating to non-EEA crew on Irish fishing vessels is a 
subset of the information that is already gathered.  This information is forwarded to the FMC 
in the naval base where it is collated before being sent to the SFPA.  Naval Service involve-
ment in the process stops once the non-EEA crew information is sent to the SFPA.  However, 
I understand that the SFPA removes details from the information collected that could be con-
sidered commercially sensitive and this information is then sent onto the Workplace Relations 
Commission, WRC.

It is also appropriate to note that where a Naval Service boarding officer encounters a non-
EEA crew member when on board an Irish fishing vessel, they now also request sight of the 
letter of approval granting the crew member authority to work on the vessel under the atypical 
work permit scheme.  If this letter is not available on board, this is noted.  The Naval Service 
has no statutory powers with regard to the enforcement of the atypical work permit scheme.  
The role of the Naval Service in relation to the enforcement of the scheme is to make available 
routine information relating to non-EEA crew collected during the course of their fisheries in-
spections.

In terms of this specific MoU and inter-agency cooperation, the Naval Service regularly 
communicates and works with both the WRC and the SFPA.  This cooperation and communica-
tion facilitates the work of the WRC in locating Irish fishing vessels at sea which have availed 
of the scheme in order for the WRC to board vessels once they come ashore to land catch in 
order to ensure compliance with the scheme.  The information in this regard, provided by the 
FMC, is limited to a vessel’s position at sea and the likely time and place of landing ashore.  The 
Naval Service is also a member of the risk profiling and inspection group chaired by the WRC, 
to progress the enforcement of the scheme.

Before concluding, I would like to provide the committee with some statistics relating to 
the work undertaken by the Naval Service in this area.  During 2017, to end August, the Na-
val Service conducted approximately 760 patrol days relating to sea fisheries protection.  The 
number of boardings at sea in that period was over 1,000.  Specifically focusing on non-EEA 
statistics, during the period 1 January 2016 to 8 September 2017, the Naval Service boarded 
and inspected 63 Irish registered fishing vessels over 15m in length relevant to the issue we 
are discussing.  The number of non-EEA crew members on board totalled 134.  Of these 134 
non EEA crew members, 39 had the required letter of approval and 95 did not.  In line with the 
MoU, details relating to these non-EEA crew members were forwarded to the SFPA for onward 
transmission to the WRC.

The Department of Defence and the Naval Service will continue to cooperate in the whole 
of Government approach to ensuring compliance with State and international laws.  The Naval 
Service takes this work very seriously.  The Naval Service vessels are multi-tasked in the sense 
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that they also undertake general surveillance, security and other duties while on fishery patrol.  
On occasion, they may board other vessels for security reasons, but for operational and security 
reasons it would not be appropriate to disclose precise details of those boardings.

Mr. Brian Hogan: I thank the committee for inviting me here today.  The issues which gave 
rise to the development of the atypical worker permit scheme, which is essentially concerned 
with the employment circumstances of fishers who may not enjoy the benefits enjoyed by their 
EU or EEA equivalents, deserve our attention.  From my particular perspective, enhancing the 
safety of all seafarers, including fishers, operating in Irish waters, whatever their nationality, is 
a key aim of the Marine Survey Office.  It is for this reason that I welcome the opportunity to 
contribute to the discussion here today.

In reviewing the transcript of the previous hearing it is clear that there may be some issues 
which need clarification in terms of who does what and who is responsible for what within the 
overall machinery of the State.  This is understandable given the complexity of the issues and 
the regulatory framework in which we operate.  While I can obviously only answer for the 
work and role of the Marine Survey Office, I believe the atypical scheme represents a genuine 
attempt to focus the efforts of the relevant State agencies to address the issues which had been 
identified, working within the overall legal and statutory powers that the respective agencies 
can exercise.

To begin, I would like to set out my role, as chief surveyor of the Marine Survey Office, 
MSO, in regulating maritime safety.  I will explain the work and role of the Marine Survey Of-
fice and outline the manner in which the safety regulation of fishing vessels is undertaken by 
the Marine Survey Office.  My aim is to demonstrate the very direct and positive impact of this 
work for the fishing sector generally and for those working in the sector.

First and foremost, the MSO is the safety regulator for maritime transport in Ireland.  We 
regulate all vessel types in Ireland at sea and on inland lakes and rivers, regardless of whether 
they operate under the Irish flag.  We also regulate all Irish flagged ships wherever they are in 
the world.  Our primary focus in exercising this role is to ensure safe travel at sea.  This means 
ensuring the safety of the vessel itself, from design stage, to launch and to periodic checks, and 
ensuring seafarers operating those vessels have the right qualifications and training, accredited 
by suitably certified training institutions, to operate them safely.  We are very proud of the fact 
that Ireland has maintained an enviable safety record internationally, as evidenced by our white 
list status within the structures of both the International Maritime Organization and the Paris 
Memorandum of Understanding. This white list status is vital for Ireland’s maritime sector.  
Without it, our ships would face challenges as they ply their trade and our seafarers would face 
difficulties in attaining and retaining employment.

The maritime transport sector is among the most highly regulated in the world.  The Interna-
tional Maritime Organization sets that regulatory framework and it is our job to ensure Ireland 
complies.  This compliance is assessed vigorously and regularly at an international level by the 
International Maritime Organization and at a European level by the European Maritime Safety 
Agency, EMSA, on behalf of the European Commission.  We cannot afford to be complacent 
about this and we do our best to guard our white list and other similar statuses.  Our ships and 
our seafarers depend on it.

The MSO carries out a very wide range of statutory functions in relation to maritime trans-
port.  This includes the statutory survey and certification of all domestic passenger ships and 
boats operating in the State.  The MSO carries out port State control inspections on all inter-
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national passenger ships including the ro-ro passenger ships operating to the United Kingdom 
and France.  In addition, the MSO surveys all Irish merchant ships and carries out port State 
control inspections of foreign flagged merchant ships calling to Irish ports.  The MSO approves 
and regulates the port security arrangements in all Irish ports and the port reception facilities for 
ship generated waste.  The MSO is tasked with regulating the prevention of ship source pollu-
tion, including air emissions from ships and other discharges.  The MSO also oversees maritime 
education and training in Ireland at all of our maritime colleges.  With our team of marine sur-
veyors, based in three offices in Dublin, Cork and Ballyshannon, we work constructively with 
the maritime transport sector and the various educational and training institutions in Ireland to 
ensure we maintain and safeguard maritime transport for those working in the sector and those 
who rely on it to transport people and goods.  How does our work impact on the fishermen in 
question here?

There are some 2,020 Irish fishing vessels, every one of which must hold a sea fishing boat 
licence.  These licences are issued by the sea fish licensing authority.  Such a licence is required 
to engage in commercial fishing.  The role of the MSO in relation to these vessels, as for all 
vessels, is to oversee safety regulation.  For the purposes of regulation of safety, the Irish fish-
ing fleet is divided into three categories based on length: there are 75 vessels more than 24 m 
in length, 130 vessels between 15 and 24 m, and approximately 1,815 vessels less than 15 m.  
As the safety needs of the vessels in each of these three categories are different, the MSO regu-
lates each category differently.  Essentially, each fishing vessel must hold a safety certificate 
issued by or under the authority of the MSO.  These safety certificates are issued following an 
initial survey for a period that varies depending on the size of the vessel, essentially four years.  
Vessels must undergo some form of intermediate survey, depending on their length, and at the 
expiry of the certificate, each vessel must undergo another survey for the issue of a new safety 
certificate, and the cycle repeats.

The safety regulation for fishing vessels is very comprehensive and covers the design and 
construction of the vessel, including the materials of construction, the strength of the vessel and 
the stability and watertight integrity of the vessel.  The regulations also cover the mechanical 
and electrical systems, including the machinery, and all systems on board.  The regulations also 
cover lifesaving and firefighting requirements.  The regulations require that all aspects of the 
fishing vessel are designed and built under the supervision of the MSO.  A survey can extend 
from several months and longer for a new construction to several days for a renewal survey.  
The application for the survey is made by the vessel owner who pays for the survey.  The suc-
cessful conclusion of a survey results in a certificate or the endorsement of an existing certifi-
cate.  The MSO also regulates the training and competency of the crew and issues the crew with 
certificates of competency.

In line with other similar jurisdictions, the MSO has its own core group of surveyors who 
survey approximately 10% of the Irish fleet directly.  We delegate the remainder of our survey 
work to private sector organisations approved by us and acting on our behalf.  For the larger 
fishing vessels in the 15 to 24 m category and the over 24 m category, these organisations are 
known as classification societies.  They perform this role for us.  A panel of private surveyors, 
established by the MSO, carries out surveys for vessels less than 15 m in length.

The committee may be interested to know how fishing vessel safety regulation has devel-
oped in Ireland.  The main source of regulation for many years was the 1967 rules which dealt 
with lifesaving and firefighting requirements.  The first major development in recent years was 
the adoption of EU Directive 97/70, which made the International Maritime Organization’s Tor-
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remolinos Protocol applicable in the EU.  This was transposed into Irish law.  This directive and 
protocol requires that all fishing vessels greater than 24 m meet the requirements of the protocol 
and that they are subject to a survey and issued with safety certificates.  The Torremolinos Pro-
tocol has recently been amended by means of the Cape Town Agreement, although this has not 
yet entered into force internationally.

The next major development was the implementation of the fishing vessel code of practice 
for the design, construction, equipment and operation of small fishing vessels of less than 15 m 
in length.  This code of practice was issued in 2004 and has been updated on two occasions.  All 
fishing vessels in this category have been regulated by this code since that date.  Regulation of 
the remaining category of the fleet – vessels between 15 m and 24 m in length – began in 2007 
and, since then, there has been a progressive implementation of safety standards for such ves-
sels.  The vessels in this category have been fully regulated since 2011.

Since the introduction of these safety regimes, the safety record of the sector has been pro-
gressively improving.  While it is very important to avoid complacency, it is the case that there 
has been a positive trend over time and we will continue to work with the industry to ensure this 
trend continues.  The focus of the MSO is, and must be, on safety.  Our aim is to work with the 
fishing industry to enhance the safety of fishing vessels in the interests of people of all nationali-
ties who work on them.  The improvements in safety in recent years have been achieved through 
co-operation with the fishing sector.  Our earnest hope is that this co-operation will continue so 
that the improvements which have been achieved can be built on in the future.  While the MSO 
has no role in worker permissions, it plays an important role in the safety regulation of fishing 
vessels.  Success in this important area of safety depends on the co-operation of the fishing sec-
tor.  Our aim is to continue to work with the sector to improve the safety of fishing vessels and 
those who work on them.

Senator  Paul Gavan: I thank the witnesses for their presentations.  I have a couple of 
questions for Mr. Hogan.  I note that the International Transport Workers Federation, ITF, was 
in contact with him and sent him three reports on its inspections in May, June and August 2016.  
I understand from Ken Fleming, Jon Whitlow and Pádraig Yeates of the ITF - Mr. Yeates is in 
attendance today - that when they met Mr. Hogan and asked him what he did with the three 
reports in question, he replied by saying he threw them in the bin.  Does Mr. Hogan think that 
is an appropriate way to respond to these issues and to the respected head of an international 
federation?

Chairman: Does the Senator have a further question?

Senator  Paul Gavan: Yes.

Chairman: The Senator should put all his questions at this point.

Senator  Paul Gavan: No problem.  My second question relates to the horrific experience 
meted out to a worker called Ebo Turkson.  I have read a Garda statement which details the most 
horrific circumstances of this case.  Ken Fleming has spoken about the fact that this guy was put 
into a survival suit and dumped into the sea, having previously been subjected to horrific abuse.  
For example, he was called a “black b------” and told to “get the f--- out of here”.  The skipper 
told him he did not “give a f---”.  Frankly, I am not prepared to repeat some of the horrendous 
stuff that happened to this injured man.

Chairman: What is the Senator quoting from?
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Senator  Paul Gavan: I am quoting from a Garda statement that was made on behalf of Ebo 
Turkson.  It was taken on 19 May 2017.  I am happy to share it with anybody who would like 
to see it.  I believe Mr. Hogan’s organisation followed up on the actual vessel.  My point is that 
when the ITF wrote to Mr. Hogan to ask him to ask him for legitimate information, he replied 
by sending a letter that I can only describe as a “PFO” letter in which he basically said that the 
ITF should ask the skipper for the information in question.  I will read from it:

We refer to the above and your letter dated the 19th of May 2017.  [They took two 
months to respond].  The issues which you raise in relation to the “MFV Maracestina” 
should be addressed to the owner of the vessel.

The Garda authorities have confirmed that this case is now being pursued by Interpol.  Given 
the horrific nature of this incident, which involved a man being dumped into the ocean, I find 
it absolutely astounding that the head of the Marine Survey Office can basically say “You 
know what - you can go and ask him yourself”.

My final question relates to compliance standards in respect of logbooks.  Just 116 logbooks 
were returned in the first six months of 2016.  The figure decreased to 60 in the second six 
months of that year.  I would like Mr. Hogan to tell us what measures he has taken to improve 
compliance because it looks pretty poor.

Mr. Brian Hogan: I have with me the contemporaneous notes of the meeting held with the 
ITF.  I also have with me the reports which I was supposed to have thrown in the bin.  I could 
not have thrown them in the bin if I still have them with me today.

Senator  Paul Gavan: That is fair enough, unless Mr. Hogan printed them off again.

Chairman: I ask the Senator to allow Mr. Hogan to respond.

Mr. Brian Hogan: The point I would like to make is the point I made at the meeting.  I am 
sorry that there may have been a misunderstanding at the meeting.  I will explain the issue with 
the reports.  I do not know if anybody has seen the reports.  They contain personal information 
in the form of photographs of passports, identification cards and atypical worker permit permis-
sions.  My point was that the MSO does not have a role in the enforcement of worker permits.  
We have a problem with receiving personal information.  The information was sent over the 
Internet on email web addresses.  I am a civil servant.  Data protection is the first thing I think 
about when I receive such information.  We have a problem when we receive very personal 
information that is not relevant to our work.  We do not know what to do.  I was concerned that 
I needed to shred the documents in this case in the interests of confidentiality.  Perhaps that was 
misinterpreted as putting them in the bin.  We have procedures.  I will suggest why the misun-
derstanding could have occurred.  I raised a concern about data protection issues.  Obviously, 
the last thing I would do is put the documents in question in the bin.  That would be an absolute 
contradiction of my reasons for raising this issue in the first place.  I still have the documents.  
I have not destroyed them.  I have not put them in the bin.  We have a data protection concern 
about the receipt of this information.  That is what I have to say about the first issue.

I will move on to the next issue raised by the Senator.  I am not able to discuss any personal 
cases or names or any other issue relating to cases.  I will talk about the case in a generic sense.

Chairman: That is fine.

Mr. Brian Hogan: I note that this case was raised at the previous meeting in July.  We are 
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discussing non-EEA workers in the Irish fishing fleet with atypical worker permissions.  The 
vessel was a UK-flagged ship, so it could not have been part of the Irish atypical scheme.  It was 
outside the scheme to begin with.  While the case that was presented was very concerning in 
some ways, it is not relevant to the discussion we are having about the atypical worker scheme.  
It certainly merits discussion and concern, but it is not encompassed by the atypical scheme, so 
I will move on to the next issue about that case.  I had not intended to raise it because of certain 
issues.  As the case has been raised, I would like to read from an email I received from the ITF.  
It was addressed to a Garda superintendent and me, and was also copied to many other people.  
It reads:

I attach a statement from Mr. ------ which gives details of his unearthly experience on 
board the fishing vessel [I will leave the name out].  As I understand it from the blanket of 
silence from both the Irish MSO department and the Garda, no charges have yet been put to 
anyone connected with this horrible act.  Equally disturbing is the fact that the area of the 
vessel where ------ fell and consequently injured himself has not been the subject of a marine 
survey by either the UK or Irish authorities to determine if the vessel’s working environ-
ment was fit for purpose.  Further to this neglect of responsibilities on both flag states, and 
despite the fact that Mr. ------ made a formal complaint to the Garda in Anglesea Street on 
the matter on the 12th of May 2017, five days ago, the matter is not receiving the attention 
such a serious charge clearly deserves.

It goes on.  I will not read the whole thing out.  I received that on 17 May last.  I wrote back to 
everybody as follows:

Dear all,

I refer to the e-mail below and wish to advise that the MSO did carry out a port state 
control inspection and a flag state inspection of the vessels on the 13th of May.  [We had al-
ready acted, even though we received an e-mail saying we had not.]  I wish to advise that the 
name of the vessel for the United Kingdom vessel is incorrect and [I gave the correct name].

Then I got an email from the ITF, as follows:

Hi Brian,

That is an excellent bit of information [in relation to us carrying out the inspections] and 
many thanks for the useful correction also [in relation to the name of the vessel].

  The MSO has been very active regarding that vessel, bearing in mind that we work under 
international protocols and we respect the international conventions under which we operate.  
The vessel is registered in the United Kingdom.  As I understand it, the incident happened 140 
miles off our coast.  We cannot be responsible for everything that happens outside our 12-mile 
jurisdiction.  The protocol we follow is that we refer any such query relating to foreign-flag 
ships to the owner and to the flag state.  That is the correct protocol.  If somebody wants to get 
information on a vessel in a case like that, he or she needs to contact the relevant flag state.  
We cannot give it.  I remind the committee that this is confidential information.  There is an 
owner involved here.  Regardless of the merits of the case, we are bound to comply with the 
normal procedures and ways of working.  As a maritime administration, we have to do that 
and comply with international conventions and ways of working.

The Senator’s third question relates to logbooks.  I would like to speak about the require-
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ments.  The word “logbook” is an all-encompassing one.  There is no such thing as an actual 
logbook, even though the term “logbook” might be used.  It means many things.  Fisheries ves-
sels also carry fisheries logbooks.  We need to be careful to know what logbook we are talking 
about.  The requirement to carry a logbook on a fishing vessel dates back to the 1894 Merchant 
Shipping Act, a very long time ago.  The fishing industry has of course gone through many iter-
ations throughout its history.  The Merchant Shipping Act was part of previous UK legislation.  
Parts of it are still in place in this country while other parts are not.  It is a very complicated 
Act.  To return to the issue of logbooks, the logbook itself fell into abeyance for many years.  
It was a very unwieldy document.  In Victorian times it was the equivalent of A2 or A3 in size, 
although they did not have A3 back then.  The language used is also very Victorian and out of 
date.  This language is set, however, in the 1894 Merchant Shipping Act and we have to be very 
careful before we change any of it.

What, then, did the Marine Survey Office do?  I have explained how, together with the 
industry, we have brought together a new framework for the fishing industry in Ireland.  This 
goes back a long time and has taken many years to develop.  As part of the introduction of this 
framework, and after the last set of fishing vessels, the 15 ft to 24 m vessels, came in in 2011, 
both ourselves and the fishing industry came to see it as necessary that we would help them 
manage safety on board their ships.  It was decided then that it would be a good idea to try to 
revive the logbook.  This was for safety purposes only.  We worked with the industry and gave it 
many assurances that if we developed a new logbook it would be for safety only and we would 
not use it for other purposes.  We essentially incorporated four things into this new version of 
the logbook.  The first of these is the crew agreement.  I do not wish to go on for too long about 
this but it is very complicated.  I am delighted that the committee asked us in today because we 
would like to explain to the members the complexity of the fishing industry.  I would like to say 
something about the complexity of ships, in particular.   Everybody always asks why we cannot 
just have one agency looking after the marine.  We cannot, just as we cannot have one agency 
looking after the land.  Everything that happens on land also happens on a ship.  Every Govern-
ment Department which acts on the land also acts on a ship.  Ships are not simple things, they 
are in fact very complicated, and fishing vessels are a form of ship.

I say that because it is very important that the atypical working scheme is signed by the fish-
ing vessel licenceholder.  That is not the same thing as the vessel.  Mr. Conway from the IFPO 
made this very point earlier, that there is a shore-based component to this.  This includes the 
employment records and, indeed, all the other records.  Fishing is actually a shore-based activ-
ity that just happens to use fishing vessels to catch fish.  The business, however, is a shore-based 
business, a food business.  This is relevant because there are essentially two contracts of em-
ployment here.  One has to be lodged with the Department of Agriculture, Food and the Marine, 
and concerns the atypical scheme.  The MSO has no involvement with that contract whatsoever.  
Also on board each vessel, however, is a document called a crew agreement.  The crew agree-
ment is included in the logbook and is an agreement between a seafarer and the master with 
regard to the conduct on board the ship.  The crew agreement is not the employment contract, 
however, and is very different.  We incorporated this into the logbook, although formally it is a 
separate document.

We also incorporated the list of crew.  This is not a logbook requirement and is a separate 
matter, but we put it into the logbook to make life easier both for the fisherman and for our-
selves.  The third thing we included in the logbook was the actual logbook itself.  Essentially, 
the logbook is a statement stating: “We left, we went out to sea, we came back”.  It is a log.  The 
fourth element we included was the safety management aspects of the fishing vessel, namely, 
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the number of officers; the drills; the musters; and the safety issues.  This, I think, was a good 
innovation.  In total, then, there are four things in the logbook.  It was introduced to help the in-
dustry from a safety perspective and we gave it an assurance to that effect.  I am now concerned 
that assurances we gave for helping safety may now be used for other purposes.

To go back to the return issue, which is an interesting one, the question needs to be asked 
very carefully.  What exactly is the question?  Looking at the fishing sector from an MSO per-
spective, we divide the fishing fleet into three: over 24 m; 15 m to 24 m; and less than 15 m.  
The regulator for the fishing industry is not the MSO but rather the Department of Agriculture, 
Food and the Marine.  We have no involvement in the fishing industry, we only care about the 
ship itself.  The Department of Agriculture, Food and the Marine regulates the fishing industry 
and it is completely different from us.  It breaks the industry up into segments called aquacul-
ture; beamer; pelagic; polyvale and general; and specific.  These segments mean nothing to us.  
This is very important in order to understand how the logbook works.  The logbooks themselves 
are required to be returned by the vessel to the MSO every six months.  This applies to active 
fishing vessels only.  The atypical agreement applies to fishing vessels over 15 m in the beamer, 
polyvale and general, and specific categories.  If I were to go to look at a fishing vessel, I would 
not know which sector it was operating in.  This is not relevant to our work.  

To go back to the question about the logbook then, one needs to be more specific about 
which sector is involved.  We cannot provide that information.  Furthermore, the MSO never 
knows whether a fishing vessel is actually operating or not.  We certify the vessels, but a fisher-
man could choose to tie his vessel up and not operate it.  We have no involvement in this.

Chairman: Mr. Hogan, I would like to try to move things on if I can because I think we 
are getting bogged down in detail.  The members have been here since 2 p.m. and there may be 
questions, particularly on the defence submission.  Quite a few questions were raised earlier.  I 
ask the witness to understand that, from our point of view, we are being bogged down in detail 
here.  We are really trying to get to the central issue here, particularly that of the Defence Forces 
submission on boarding ships with non-EEA crew members on board.  That is the line we need 
to follow.

Deputy  Maurice Quinlivan: I have a very quick question for Commander McGrath or Ms 
Stanley.  Their presentation stated the number of non-EEA crew members found on board when 
the Naval Service did inspections amounted to a total of 134, and that of these a total of 39 had 
the required letter of approval and 95 did not.  Why were they asked for this letter of approval?  
Does the Naval Service do this routinely?  Mr. Dermot Conway of the IFPO told us in the last 
session that he had never heard that these crew members had to carry this letter on board.  I may 
be misquoting him.  If these men are not required to carry the letter with them, why are they 
being asked for it?

Chairman: The point that Mr. Conway made, I think, was that he is sometimes contacted 
to email the letter itself on.

Deputy  Maurice Quinlivan: My question is this: do Naval Service personnel expect crew 
to carry this letter or are they surprised to find that they do not?

Ms Margaret Stanley: The Naval Service has no enforcement powers in terms of the letter.  
They simply ask the master if the letters are available to see.  It is then noted whether they are or 
not.  This is simply a question that is put to the skipper of vessels with non-EEA crew on board.



38

JJEI

Deputy  Maurice Quinlivan: If someone does not have the letter, this is noted and sent on 
to the-----

Ms Margaret Stanley: That information eventually makes its way to the Workplace Rela-
tions Commission, which then deals with the matter as it sees fit.

Chairman: That letter then states that the individual is officially employed on that vessel.  
Is that basically what the letter is for?  Does it authenticate the crew member as having been of-
ficially employed on the vessel?  Is that the whole idea?  Does it amount to the crew member’s 
official papers?

Ms Margaret Stanley: I do not want to speak on behalf of the Workplace Relations Com-
mission.  I believe that this letter is produced by the WRC for its workers, but as I do not work 
in that area I would hesitate to give any details on it.

Senator  Gerald Nash: I have some questions for Mr. Hogan.  Does the Marine Survey 
Office, MSO, have a problem sharing information with other State agencies?  It seems to me 
from my experience that it does.  What Mr. Hogan neglected to tell us in his contribution is that, 
apart from general issues to do with safety at sea and on vessels, the organisation is responsible 
for the monitoring, regulation and enforcement of working time directives at sea, rest periods 
and so on.  In the course of his work and that of his inspectors and others engaged on behalf of 
the MSO, he would encounter information from organisations like the Naval Service, the Sea 
Fisheries Protection Authority, SFPA, the Revenue Commissioners, An Garda Síochána and 
others that would be relevant to the operation of the scheme.

From the get-go, the MSO resisted membership of the implementation group.  It essentially 
refused to sign the original memorandum of understanding.  It appears to have given a com-
mitment some time ago to the industry that, when revising the log books, it would not share 
any information whatever with any other agency, even if it was relevant to the enforcement of 
important legislation.  The MSO does not only have responsibility for marine safety.  Its parent 
Department’s website describes the functions of the MSO very clearly, including “the living 
and working conditions of all ships and crews”.  The MSO has a wider responsibility than Mr. 
Hogan indicated in his contribution.  For the life of me I cannot understand why it resisted sign-
ing the original memorandum of understanding.  Organisations like the Sea Fisheries Protec-
tion Authority, SFPA, and others that might have a more tangential relationship to employment 
rights at sea were quite happy to sign it and work with other agencies in risk-profiling potential 
vessel owners who might be at risk of non-compliance.  All the agencies should be facilitated 
in doing their jobs effectively and implementing the scheme the Government asked them to 
implement.

I cannot understand why the MSO appears to refuse to share relevant information.  It is 
almost as though it were a policy position, although I do not know who could have adopted it.  
Perhaps it was the MSO itself.  It was clear in conversations I have had with a previous Minis-
ter that the Department did not want this to be the case.  I would be very interested to hear Mr. 
Hogan’s position on sharing information with colleague agencies and whether he is involved in 
the risk profiling group operated by the Workplace Relations Commission, WRC.  What type of 
information does the MSO share?  Does it share information that would be extremely useful to 
other agencies and Government Departments in terms of the implementation and enforcement 
of this scheme?

Mr. Brian Hogan: The MSO is very active in the task force.  We have provided a lot of 
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key information to it.  I think everybody who is involved has acknowledged that.  The memo-
randum of understanding, MOU, was established subsequent to the task force and the MSO did 
not resist signing it.

I am a creature of statute.  I can only do what the law allows me to do.  I cannot do some-
thing just because it might be a nice thing to do.  We have a number of judicial reviews against 
us currently.  The last thing we can do is undergo more judicial reviews.  We will defend our 
position where we are sure of it and we are sure of it in the cases we have.  However, we will not 
take on unnecessary cases in which we are concerned about our powers.  We can only be bound 
by the law.  An MOU is not legal and we cannot be bound by it.  It cannot change the law.  We 
are bound to comply with the law.  We did sign the MOU.

Senator  Gerald Nash: The MSO signed a revised MOU that was, in a sense, diluted.  It did 
not accept the responsibilities that were originally considered to apply to it and was less than 
helpful at the time.

Mr. Brian Hogan: I do not agree that we were less than helpful.  The MSO is bound by the 
law.  I am a civil servant.  I must comply with the law.  That is a fact.  We do comply with the 
law.  I do not know about the issue of revising the MOU.  I think we contributed positively to it, 
to ensure that it complied with our legal requirements.  We cannot commit to something which 
is not in accordance with the law.  It is that simple.  We are a regulator and that is how we act.

I think I need to explain a little more about what the Marine Survey Office actually does and 
how we actually operate.  We are not an inspectorate.

Chairman: That is a fair point.  It is not an inspectorate and Mr. Hogan has said that.

Are there further questions?  Can we move the discussion on a little bit?  I have a couple 
of specific questions I would like to ask Dr. Steele and Ms Stanley.  I want to keep on point.  
We are discussing non-EEA crew members on board vessels.  Dr. Steele represents the Sea 
Fisheries Protection Authority while Ms Stanley represents the Naval Service.  When they have 
carried out checks on these vessels, have they ever removed a non-EEA crew member because 
he was ill or badly treated, or because he looked for help or signalled that there was something 
amiss?  I am trying to get down to the crux of it.  Not having the documentation is one thing.  
Have any of these workers ever signalled that they were being mistreated, were ill or felt they 
would like to be put to shore?  Maybe they were not able to do so.

Ms Margaret Stanley: Perhaps I could answer this question in the context of the particular 
case that was raised at the beginning of this session.  There was mention of a Ghanaian indi-
vidual who had been put to shore.  I am advised that while engaged in a four week long mari-
time security and defence patrol, a boarding party from the LÉ William Butler Yeats boarded a 
UK-registered fishing vessel on 8 May 2017.  It was a routine fisheries inspection of the vessel.  
During the boarding, a crew member of Ghanaian nationality stated to the naval crew that he 
wanted to leave the fishing vessel and be brought ashore.  I also understand that he stated he had 
hurt his back.  It was relayed from the captain of the LÉ William Butler Yeats to the skipper of 
the ship via the boarding officer that if the skipper felt the injuries claimed by the crew member 
merited it, he should either proceed ashore and disembark the individual or consider requesting 
a helicopter medical evacuation.  As members will understand, the skipper of a fishing vessel is 
responsible for his crew and all persons on board.  In this instance, the skipper indicated to the 
boarding party that he would be proceeding to land the following day and the individual could 
leave.  At that point, the boarding by the Naval Service was completed with no further incident 
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and the LÉ William Butler Yeats left the area and continued on with its maritime patrol.

Chairman: That is the only reference the witnesses have to a case like that.  Would there 
have been a check 24 or 48 hours later to see if that person got to shore?

Ms Margaret Stanley: That would not be the role of the Naval Service.  The captain of 
the LÉ William Butler Yeats communicated with the skipper of the fishing vessel.  The skipper 
indicated what he was going to do and, at that point, the interaction concluded.

Chairman: So there would not have been any checks or balances to make sure that person 
did get ashore.

Ms Margaret Stanley: That would not be the role of the Naval Service.

Dr. Susan Steele: We inspect on landing.  During landing of vessels, there is a lot of activ-
ity.  The comparison would be with an aeroplane coming in and being refuelled to go back out.  
We do not restrict crew members going on board or coming off the vessels while we are doing 
a landing inspection.  We believe that the checks are more amenable to verification at sea.  We 
have had two cases reported to the SFPA, one on inspection and one whereby an individual re-
ported to the Howth office.  We will have passed those reports on to the relevant authorities as 
per the memorandum of understanding.  We would have attempted to check up but were unable 
to verify what happened in the office case where two individuals reported to the office.

Chairman: Is Dr. Steele aware of what they reported?  Did they report that they wanted to 
leave?

Dr. Susan Steele: No, they were onshore.  We have had no experience where we have gone 
on board a vessel and somebody requested assistance.  We would see it as very unlikely because 
it would be at landing that would be-----

Chairman: Authority staff check on land when refuelling or restocking.  If non-EEA staff 
members do not have their papers and they make a complaint, where would that go?

Dr. Susan Steele: To the Garda.  However, we have not had that situation and, therefore, we 
would not have had to act on it.  The Garda and the WRC would be involved as per the memo-
randum of understanding.  We have not been in that position.

Ms Margaret Stanley: I misspoke slightly earlier in my contribution regarding the board-
ing of the UK fishing vessel.  It happened on 9 May, not 8 May.

Chairman: I thank the witnesses for engaging with the committee.

  Sitting suspended at 5.52 p.m. and resumed at 5.55 p.m.

Chairman: I welcome Ms Oonagh Buckley, director general, WRC, Mr. Padraig Dooley, 
principal officer, inspections and enforcement services, WRC, Mr. Martin O’Halloran, chief 
executive officer of the Health and Safety Authority, HSA, and Mr. Brian Higgins, assistant 
chief executive officer, operational compliance and prevention, HSA, to the final session of the 
meeting to discuss the position of non-EEA crew in the Irish fishing fleet.

I will not repeat the privilege note as everyone was present earlier.  I call Ms Buckley to 
make her presentation.

Ms Oonagh Buckley: I thank the committee for the invitation.  I am joined by Mr. Padraig 
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Dooley who is the head of our inspection service and he will be able to answer questions in 
greater detail.

The WRC plays the same role in inspecting the 176 whitefish vessels more than 15 m in 
length as it does for places of employment generally with two exceptions.  First, authorised offi-
cers of the Department of Tourism, Transport and Sport, that is, marine surveyors, have respon-
sibility for enforcing compliance with rest period and maximum working hours requirements in 
the fishing and merchant shipping sectors, not the WRC.  Second, Irish employment law does 
not apply to persons classed as “share fishers” for Revenue purposes, as they are deemed to be 
self-employed.  Delivering on our responsibilities, which we take seriously, under the MOU, 
which we were heavily involved in drafting and which we were keen to sign up to, was a sig-
nificant challenge for us because we were not used to inspecting fishing vessels.

We have put significant resources into inspections and we estimate that since February 2016, 
we have deployed more than 1,800 WRC inspector hours to inspecting 170 workplaces, which 
equates to more than 100 hours per vessel.  Our inspections cover surveillance, inspections on 
sea and follow-up compliance checks, and repeated correspondence with the employers, and, 
ultimately, if we cannot secure compliance, which is our aim across all places of employment, 
we follow up with prosecutions.  A number of prosecutions have been commenced by the 
commission in this area.  At this stage, we have inspected 96% of the relevant vessels.  This is 
not easy because these involve a moving workplace.  I understand that we cannot inspect the 
remaining 4% because they are fishing tuna somewhere off the Spanish coast but we intend to 
get to them when they return to our shores.

We co-operate strongly with the other stakeholders under the MOU.  We share and receive 
substantial volumes of information.  This is an extension of our work of sharing information 
with all other investigative agencies.  For example, on land, we share information with the 
Department of Social Protection and the Revenue.  I heard the WRC mentioned frequently in 
the context of people passing information during the earlier exchanges.  We are at the end of 
the pipe for much of the information sharing.  We have engaged extensively with stakeholders, 
including the ITF, the Migrant Rights Centre and the IFPO.  Mention was made earlier of a dif-
ficulty involving inspection of log books late last year and early this year but we have reached 
a satisfactory compromise, which allows us access to the information we need on board the 
vessels.

It is clear that fishing vessels are difficult places to work.  This is clear internationally.  The 
ILO recently produced a report, which is being discussed in Geneva, in which the difficulties 
regulatory authorities experience in dealing with working conditions on board fishing vessels 
are clearly laid out.  It shows that many times regulations are passed but the follow-up inspec-
tions are not perhaps as evident.

I hope the committee will find from the information we have provided it that the WRC, at 
least, has performed its responsibility under the memorandum of understanding and has fol-
lowed up with the necessary inspections to the best of our ability. 

Mr. Martin O’Halloran: I will try to touch on some key observations, as the WRC did, and 
will take our statement as read.

Established in 1989, the Health and Safety Authority is the national statutory body with 
responsibility for enforcing occupational safety and health law, promoting and encouraging 
accident prevention, and providing information, advice and promoting education on safety and 
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health for all companies, organisations and individuals.  We advise the Minister on the making 
of legislation and regulations in this area and represent Irish interests at EU committees dealing 
with proposed directives and regulations.

In 2014 the authority took responsibility for the Irish National Accreditation Board which 
is there to promote and foster best practice in business.  The authority has a very broad scope.  
Anywhere in the economy that work happens, we have an involvement.  Everything from ag-
riculture, construction, diving, docks, forestry, education, fishing, health care, manufacturing, 
mines and quarries, public sector, transport and storage, chemical manufacturing, import and 
formulation, and control of major accident hazards.  We are also the agency responsible for 
accompanying UN international chemical weapons inspectors.  Our remit is extremely broad.

Like other public sector organisations, the authority has experienced a reduction of avail-
able resources since 2008.  Notwithstanding that the authority’s approach is a risk-based model 
where we identify those areas where we have a legal mandate, where we carry risk profiling 
where the need is greatest and where our interventions can have the maximum impact.  That is 
the model we have evolved.

The authority believes it is critically important that we work collaboratively with other or-
ganisations, and the working group on the task force of fishing is a case in point.  We are a regu-
lator and inspectorate and our regulatory remit touches and overlaps with other organisations.  
Our philosophy is that we engage with them.  We have more than 25 service level agreements 
and memorandums of understanding, and are fundamentally a creature of collaboration.  We 
feel that by sharing information and experience, we individually and collectively can deliver a 
better result for the workers of Ireland.

Since the establishment of the authority in 1989 the overall workplace fatality rate has been 
driven down from 4.9 per 100,000 workers in employment in 1990 to just over two fatalities 
per 100,000 workers today.  Ireland can take some level of satisfaction that we have achieved 
a reduction in fatalities.  Our approach is to create a culture of safety which is how we believe 
we can achieve the best sustained improvement.  A single entity cannot deliver everything.  It 
requires a sustained, collaborative effort among all in the marine sector to achieve the improve-
ment in the sector.

The Health and Safety Authority’s priority is to ensure that workplace injuries and fatalities 
are minimised through the work of our inspectorate and our advice, information and guidance.  
We also provide tools to all sectors of industry to make it easier for them.

On the marine sector and fishing, fishing vessels come within the legislation enforced by the 
authority since the Safety Health and Welfare at Work Act 1989.  Under the Safety Health and 
Welfare at Work Act 2005 a vessel is defined as a place of work and falls clearly in the scope 
of that legislation.  The 2005 Act also interprets share fisherman as an employee of the owner 
or the skipper of a fishing vessel.  Therefore, if they are a share worker, the duty of care to their 
workplace safety and health is extended fully to them.

My submission to the committee includes some information on awareness raising which I 
will take as read but I will give a sense of the partnership working.  As stated earlier the au-
thority has long recognised the need and values of a partnership approach to bringing about 
change.  This approach relies on the commitment of the regulator together with stakeholders 
working to a common aim and with an agreed set of objectives to bring about improvements 
in the workplace.  One key example of this from the authority’s perspective is the construc-
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tion safety partnership advisory committee, where, through working collaboratively with all 
players, namely, the regulators, industry players, employers and the employee groups, we have 
achieved a common approach to drive down accident rates.  In addition, as a regulator, the au-
thority has acknowledged the potential overlap of regulatory bodies and their engagement with 
different sectors.  The Health and Safety Authority therefore was a committed participant in the 
joint ministerial task force on fishing which we felt was a very progressive development, and 
is a signatory to the memorandum of understanding.  What that means on the ground is that if 
one of our inspectors goes into a workplace and sees something which is not directly within 
our mandate or remit, we have a one-on-one relationship and the inspector can say that he or 
she is not competent to deal with the matter but knows someone who is.  It is a very pragmatic, 
sensible working arrangement on the ground.

The HSA’s programme for work in 2017 has identified 50 specific fishing inspections.  The 
focus of these inspections was on the management of health and safety of all crew on the vessel 
with particular reference to the presence of safety statements and risk assessments.  These are 
the mandatory requirements under the 2005 Act.  It is essentially a safety management system.  
To assist in that, we have prepared guidance, which is in the awareness raising, that helps make 
it easy for the skipper to discharge.  This was distributed widely.

The 2017 inspection programme has to date resulted in 46 inspections, or 92% of pro-
gramme.  Based on these inspections 52% of vessels inspected had a safety statement and risk 
assessment in place.  That does not sound terribly high but it is something of an improving 
trend.

The 2005 Act is applicable irrespective of vessel size and while no specific focus on vessel 
size was applied in the current programme, just over 60% of the vessels inspected were in ex-
cess of 15 m, so they would have been in the scope of the EEA programme.  Inspections have 
taken place in different locations around the country including Howth, Dunmore East, Kilmore 
Quay, Cahirciveen and Castletownbere.

A number of issues were identified.  Our approach is to identify and address these with the 
duty holder, in this case, the skipper or the owner and if he or she is willing to voluntarily agree 
compliance then we use that approach before we implement the regulatory legal enforcement 
instruments.  The issues identified included the absence of a safety statement, the risk assess-
ment, training, understanding of English by non-Irish national crew members, and emergency 
plans.  During that programme it was interesting to note that the nationalities identified included 
Lithuanian, Polish, Egyptian, Czech Republic, Rumanian, Ukrainian, Latvian, Filipino and In-
donesian, which I do not believe is an exhaustive list, but it includes both EEA and non-EEA 
members, the latter being Egyptian, Ukrainian, Filipino and Indonesian.

The presence of personal flotation devices was observed on all inspections.  That is positive 
from our perspective.

In regard to the vessels where a health and safety management system was absent or inad-
equate enforcement action was taken by inspectors in the form of written advice or issuing of 
formal enforcement notices, some 60% of the vessels have such enforcement actions taken.

We found there was a broad awareness among skippers of the role of the Health and Safety 
Authority.  However, there was some confusion flagged to our inspectors in relation to the re-
spective roles of the HSA and the Marine Survey Office.  We would stress that the role of the 
authority is around worker safety and workplace safety practices, as in identification and risk 
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assessment or, in other words, work practices rather than the architecture or construction of the 
vessel.

Chairman: I thank Mr. O’Halloran.  I will ask a question of him and of Ms Buckley before 
I call on other members.  Do all inspections take place when the vessel is docked?

Mr. Martin O’Halloran: Yes.  All inspections take place when the vessel is at port.

Ms Oonagh Buckley: The Naval Service also conducts at sea inspections and passes the 
information back to us.

Chairman: Do the vessels have prior notice of a WRC inspection?

Ms Oonagh Buckley: In some instances, yes, but Mr. Dooley can give details on how many 
unannounced inspections we do.

Mr. Padraig Dooley: We do announced and unannounced inspections.  We track vessels by 
satellite as they come into port, so we know what port they are coming into, and when the Sea-
Fisheries Protection Authority has prior notification of the landing of specific vessels in which 
we have an interest it passes on the information.

Chairman: Have crew members ever flagged during on-board inspections that they were 
being ill-treated or mistreated, that they were sick and wanted to be brought to hospital or that 
they just wanted to get off?

Mr. Brian Higgisson: To answer the Chairman’s earlier question, the HSA’s inspections are 
unannounced and we do not give prior warning of them.  As the Chairman will appreciate, they 
take place in port so news can spread fairly quickly that there are inspectors.

Chairman: Of course.

Mr. Brian Higgisson: We have not had any issues such as those described by the Chairman 
in her second question brought to our attention to date, since the agreement was brought into 
place, but we would say it is difficult to inspect in port because quite often not all members of 
the crew are available or present on the vessel.

Ms Oonagh Buckley: I am advised we have not had any specific instances of people ap-
proaching us during inspection and asking to be removed from the vessel or that they require 
assistance of that kind.

Chairman: I was delighted to hear Ms Buckley state the WRC follows up if it flags some-
thing with whoever is responsible on the vessel and that it has repeated correspondence.  It is 
very heartening to hear this because it is essential.

Ms Oonagh Buckley: I thank the Chairman.  The broader briefing document we sent to the 
committee shows that not only do we follow up on the initial inspection but we have follow-up 
inspections.  Something positive in line with this, and it is slow but we are getting there, is when 
we are going back for repeat inspections we find higher levels of compliance.  This is inevitable.  
This is what we find on land, although not all of the time unfortunately.   I hope this shows that 
to a degree the penny is dropping on the need for employment rights protection on board sea 
fisheries vessels.

Deputy  Maurice Quinlivan: My question is for the WRC.  How many prosecutions have 
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resulted from its investigations?  Mr. Dooley stated it has announced and unannounced inspec-
tions and that it receives information by satellite on when boats are coming into port.  I assume 
unannounced inspections are done on a ship coming into port when all the crew are on board.

Mr. Padraig Dooley: When we receive prior notification of landing or we track by satellite, 
it is most likely unannounced.  We have done two days of actions, one referenced earlier with 
the Garda in Howth, and Castletownbere.  We have also done a full day of action in another 
operation of unannounced inspections in specific ports.  With regard to prosecutions, as of 8 
September six prosecutions have been initiated and none has come out the far end at this stage.

Deputy  Maurice Quinlivan: The six are ongoing.

Mr. Padraig Dooley: Yes.

Senator  Paul Gavan: I thank the witnesses from both organisations for their presentations.  
I am conscious of the fact many non-EEA workers are from countries such as Egypt, Ghana 
and the Philippines.  How many interpreters have the organisations hired to carry out this work 
over the 18 months to date?

Ms Oonagh Buckley: We have not been in a position to employ any interpreters, but this 
has not particularly been a difficulty in carrying out the inspections.

Senator  Paul Gavan: How does Ms Buckley know?

Ms Oonagh Buckley: Because we look for papers.

Senator  Paul Gavan: We have been speaking about how people express their concerns if 
they cannot speak the language, and the Chairman expressed it well.  I am very surprised by 
this.  I have a lot of respect for the WRC as a former trade union official.  I would have thought 
the first thing it would realise when undertaking a project such as this is it would need to have 
some level of language assistance.  I know from personal experience, because I have met some 
of these fishers, that they cannot speak English.  If I am an Egyptian fisher, what assistance do I 
get from the WRC?  How can I contact it if I cannot speak the language?  Has the WRC trans-
lated any information leaflets into any of these languages?  This is basic stuff.  Are the witnesses 
stating the WRC has not done this?

Mr. Padraig Dooley: We have a certain number of inspectors who have a number of lan-
guages and we use them, but it has not come up as an issue with regard to fishing.  In other 
areas, we have used interpreters and we have at our disposal interpretation on phones, but we 
have not had to use it in fishing.

Senator  Paul Gavan: I find it really strange it has not come up as an issue, given that I 
know from experience, and the ITF would have told the WRC, that language is a key issue in 
this regard.  This leads to my next question.  The WRC has had two meetings with the ITF over 
a 21 month period.  That strikes me as being-----

Ms Oonagh Buckley: We have had four meetings with the ITF.

Senator  Paul Gavan: It informed me the number was two.

Ms Oonagh Buckley: That is incorrect.

Senator  Paul Gavan: How would the witnesses describe the level of engagement with the 



46

JJEI

ITF?  It offered to provide expert witnesses with regard to reports it provided last year, but the 
WRC refused.  Why did the WRC refuse?

Ms Oonagh Buckley: We have accepted all the information sent to us by the ITF.

Senator  Paul Gavan: The WRC has accepted the information.

Ms Oonagh Buckley: We have accepted the information, including most recently in June 
when, on foot of a meeting a few days earlier, we went to Liberty Hall and inspected the spe-
cific information the ITF held.  This information was not in its entirety of the quality we would 
need in our regulatory function.  We have a regulatory function that needs to follow a trail of 
evidence because ultimately we could end up in court.  We took the information from the ITF 
and used it in our risk profiling exercise.  In effect, we associated its information with our files 
and we are using it to guide us in our risk profiling.

Senator  Paul Gavan: Forgive me, but with respect, the witnesses have not answered the 
question I asked, which is why the WRC turned down the ITF’s offer to act as expert witnesses 
with regard to the reports it gave the WRC in May, June and August of last year.

Ms Oonagh Buckley: We have accepted all the information given to us by the ITF.  What 
the ITF, in effect, offered to do was to act as an inspector, and it is not authorised for that.  This 
is not its role or function.  Its role and function is as a trade union, which is entirely correct and 
right, and as an advocate for the rights of these people, and this is entirely correct and right.  
We have a different function as a regulator, and it is our own authorised officers and inspectors 
who must carry out the work because, ultimately, for us it is a matter of compliance and if we 
do not get compliance we will end up in court.  We need to have a file prepared by a WRC la-
bour inspector or authorised officer to complete it.  While Ken Fleming and the ITF team were 
extremely generous in offering to be our eyes and ears, unfortunately, we must have our own 
eyes and ears present.

Senator  Paul Gavan: How much money has the WRC recovered for fishers over the past 
20 months?

Mr. Padraig Dooley: The inspections that are closed amounted to the low thousands.  Most 
of the inspections are still open and still ongoing, so we do not have figures for the open inspec-
tions.

Senator  Paul Gavan: What stand out a mile are the 70 boats out of 159 with no records in 
the cases that are open.  I am shocked by this.  Were the witnesses shocked by this?

Mr. Padraig Dooley: The biggest issue in all sectors, and not just in fishing, when we go out 
is that people do not have records.  With our hat on we look for compliance, so rather than going 
straight to enforcement we seek to get compliance from employers.  If there are no records we 
will work with the employers to reconstruct those records if necessary and work with them to 
see what is there.  At the end of the day, it is about getting rights for workers and not necessarily 
just getting the paperwork in place.

Ms Oonagh Buckley: To clarify, it is not necessarily a question of no records but of incom-
plete records, so if there is an infringement under the legislation on records we work with the 
employer to reach compliance.

Senator  Paul Gavan: The graph says no records, which is why I asked the question.
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Senator  Gerald Nash: I thank the representatives from the WRC and the Health and Safety 
Authority for their commitment to this process and scheme from the get go.  Of course this is 
a relatively new scheme, and it is fair to say they were both early adopters and very committed 
to making the scheme work, notwithstanding some of the major challenges that were apparent 
from the outset.  I was going to ask the question Senator Gavan posed about recovered moneys 
in terms of non-payment of wages.  The issue has been raised with me and with others consis-
tently and I am aware of some cases that might be ongoing.  I hope they can be expedited as 
quickly as possible because there is also the question, as far as those involved in the scheme are 
concerned, of ensuring that there is confidence in the authorities and that when complaints are 
made, cases are dealt with expeditiously.  I have no doubt that the WRC is dealing with those 
cases very efficaciously.

I understand there may have been some resistance to inspections from some quarters, again 
notwithstanding some of the excellent work the witnesses have done with the producer organi-
sations, representatives of which were here earlier.  Those organisations value that in terms of 
the obligations they have under the scheme and so on and their wish is to be compliant.  Are the 
witnesses experiencing any degree of resistance to the inspections at present?  That is a question 
for the representatives from the WRC and the Health and Safety Authority.

I have a final question for the Health and Safety Authority.  I think Mr. O’Halloran expressed 
very well earlier the fact that there may be some confusion as to where the Health and Safety 
Authority’s functions begin and end and where the MSO’s responsibilities begin and end.  The 
MSO, of course, is responsible for health and safety at sea, to put it broadly, and for the safety 
of vessels, whereas the Health and Safety Authority is responsible for the workplace matters it 
defined earlier.  How does the Health and Safety Authority resolve with the MSO those issues 
when they arise?  Does it have a relationship with the MSO to resolve those issues - notwith-
standing the attitude the MSO has had from the outset to this scheme in general and to the 
memorandum of understanding in particular - in the light of what Mr. Higgisson said earlier?

Mr. Martin O’Halloran: It is probably fair to say we have not succeeded in cultivating a 
good working relationship with the MSO.  We have striven to do so repeatedly over a period 
of approximately ten years.  We have engaged in bilateral discussions and, as recently as 2015, 
when there was a public consultation with the Department of Transport, Tourism and Sport on 
marine strategy, we made proposals once again.  We have had, shall I say, a number of unan-
swered mails, so we have not succeeded.  That is just the straight answer.  I will ask Mr. Higgis-
son to address the issue of resistance.  We have had some issues in that regard.

Mr. Brian Higgisson: To be fair, the level of awareness of the role of the authority in the 
past two years has increased significantly and, therefore, the owners and skippers of the vessels 
are quite open to the inspection process.  What has been raised, which is alluded to in our pre-
sentation, is the issue of confusion as to the role of the MSO and the role of the authority.  For 
the purposes of our inspections, we give a very clear indication as to what our role is and where 
it lies.  It concerns safety, the need for a safety statement and the need for a risk assessment on 
a vessel.  As the committee can see, the results, even though they are probably below the indus-
trial average for safety statements in the country, are improving.  The figure was below 40%.  
As the presentation indicates, the percentage has increased to the mid-50s.  It has been as high 
as over 60%.  As a result of our sample sizes being quite small - 50 vessels - the committee will 
appreciate that the figure will fluctuate.  However, it has been increasing.  Regarding a better 
awareness, there is an openness among the vast majority of skippers to engage with us during 
the inspection process and to do what is required.
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Mr. Padraig Dooley: Regarding resistance, a very small number of vessels have failed to 
engage or have refused entry.  One will find that those are the ones that will be prosecuted.  We 
will use enforcement powers in respect of them but they are in very small numbers.

Deputy  Tom Neville: Briefly, based on the questions I asked before about payment of 
employees and the employee contract, I understand they are now direct employees, but was 
there ever a stage when they were agency staff?  If so, when did the change take place?  This is 
just based on questions that were answered before to the effect that there was talk that agents 
who were delivering these non-EEA workers were to be paid up to 80%.  Did that ever happen 
before that change, and when did the change take place?

Mr. Padraig Dooley: Regarding the agents and agency staff, we were made aware of that 
Filipino agency-type arrangement by our colleagues in the UK.  When we met the producer 
organisations last February, they again raised this issue with them and we said that there is no 
way we can continue and that they must pay the crew member directly and not have this ar-
rangement of paying a Filipino agent 80% of the amount.

Deputy  Tom Neville: It was February 2017-----

Mr. Padraig Dooley: It was 2017, but it would appear that this Filipino agent arrangement 
had existed in the fishing fleets in the UK and had come into the Republic as well but, again, 
although they are employment agencies, they are not covered by our Employment Agency Act 
1971.

Deputy  Tom Neville: I understand that but I am trying to ascertain legacy issues that would 
influence this debate and that date from prior to February of this year.

Mr. Padraig Dooley: When we went into it with the producer organisations, they explained 
the type of arrangement that was being proposed to them by these agents and we just said “No” 
to it.

Deputy  Bríd Smith: I am interested in the question Senator Gavan posed about language 
and communication.  When the new scheme came in and the WRC made an issue of visits to 
vessels to inform the owners and the employers of the new scheme, did it attempt in any way 
to talk to the workers, to inform them of their rights or to communicate those rights to them?  I 
suppose it is the same question in a roundabout way.  Had the WRC considered that this scheme 
covers workers as well as employers and whether the WRC could inform the workers of what 
they are entitled to?  Locating an Arabic translator in this country does not involve rocket sci-
ence.  One could pick one up anywhere.  I do not mean that in a derogatory way but there are 
plenty of good people with strong linguistic skills who can speak both Arabic and English very 
well.  It is a matter of reaching out to inform these workers of their rights.  I would like the 
witnesses to expand a little on what they may have done, even if they could not speak to the 
workers directly, to give them some information about their rights.  Have the witnesses’ organi-
sations, particularly the WRC, made contact with any of the fishers who suffer exploitation?  
Have they ever had contact with them, sat down in front of them, even through an interpreter, 
met them, seen them as real people and discussed their issues directly with them?

What I cannot get over - it struck me during the previous session as well - is the disparity 
between the evidence and the reports of the ITF versus the evidence from the industry and those 
before us.  The ITF seems to have been able to illustrate to us dozens of incidents of exploitation 
but no one else, including the industry and those present, seems to be able to match that.  Can 
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the witnesses explain this disparity?  Is someone telling porkies or dreaming this up?  What is 
the problem?  Does the WRC have a sufficient number of inspectors to carry out its work in gen-
eral?  The answer to that question might shed light on the situation.  Famously, someone once 
said that the Labour Relations Commission had fewer inspectors than there were dog inspectors 
in the country.  If the position has changed, has it changed sufficiently to allow the WRC to 
do its job properly in respect of workers’ rights as well as employers’ obligations?  How many 
inspectors does the WRC have and is the number sufficient to cover what is required?

Have the witnesses ever found actual employment breaches and, if so - leaving aside what is 
in the documentation - how many?  I understand that logbooks and documentation are a confus-
ing part of the fishing industry and often do not match up to what one would find in an office, on 
a factory floor or whatever.  That should not be the case but it is.  Do the witnesses have other 
evidence of breaches of employment law in the industry?

Ms Oonagh Buckley: I will answer a number of those questions.  At a certain point I will 
hand over to Mr. Dooley, who would have more information about the information sessions and 
what was done with employees.  I will take the questions in reverse order.  We have found sub-
stantial numbers of employment breaches.  The figures I have, which are for up to 8 September, 
show 198 employment breaches across 110 vessels.  Of these, 14% or 29 were employment 
permit breaches.

If I may, I will return to evidence given earlier in the session regarding the Naval Service 
referring 134 cases involving non-EEA nationals.  We had a figure of 66 inspections but there 
was a discrepancy in this regard.  I am advised that when we followed up on those reports we 
found in the vast majority of cases that the individuals either had permission to work in the 
country - they had proper employment - they had an employment permit or they were not car-
rying their permit on their person at the time.  While the rules of the scheme require persons to 
carry their employment permit, as has been explained, people do not necessarily carry pieces 
on their person on what is likely to be a very wet fishing vessel.

A substantial number of these employment breaches related to paperwork.  That is our ex-
perience in all employments.  We find the vast majority of breaches of employment law in basic 
paperwork and this follows through into the fisheries sector and the 170 vessels.

Deputy  Bríd Smith: I apologise for interrupting at this point.  Is that because it is what the 
Workplace Relations Commission looks for in its inspections?

Ms Oonagh Buckley: No, we look for breaches that we are competent to look for across 
the range of legislation.

Deputy  Bríd Smith: Does the WRC look for physical evidence of breaches rather than 
asking for paperwork for this or that?

Ms Oonagh Buckley: Perhaps I should explain.  I did not go through what we do on an 
inspection because I curtailed my opening statement.  We interview the people on board.  While 
I take the Deputy’s point on language difficulties, as Mr. Dooley stated, language has not been 
significantly restrictive on our activities.  Many employment rights follow through from decent 
paperwork, and if someone cannot show this, for example, that payslips are being issued, he or 
she cannot show that the minimum wage is being paid or that a host of other things are being 
done.  It is a very important part of the process that we establish and ensure employees get what 
they require and employers give this to them.  That is across a range of employments.  Our in-
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vestigations involve a substantial process.

The Deputy asked about the number of inspectors.  I have 53 labour inspectors or whole-
time equivalents on the books at the moment, with the figure rising to 57 if one includes Mr. 
Dooley and his managers.  There is probably not a public service manager who would say he or 
she has sufficient staff or resources.  We have had to cut our cloth in recent years in the context 
of the moratorium on public sector recruitment and so forth in terms of the number of people 
we have available to do the work.  That being said, we carry out more than 5,000 inspections 
per annum and do substantial compliance and follow-up.

As I stated, fulfilling our obligations under the memorandum of understanding has been an 
incredibly resource intensive activity for the Workplace Relations Commission.  We are talking 
about 170 workplaces which we have spent a large amount of our time inspecting.  That level 
of intensity, which we have sustained for two years, is not feasible in the longer term based on 
our current resources.  We will not stop inspecting fisheries vessels - that would be wrong - but 
we will not be able to maintain an inspection rate of 50% of the relevant fleet.  It should be 
said, however, that as we return for the second inspection, we see more compliance.  We nar-
row down and risk profile cases to go back to workplaces about which we have concerns.  That 
exercise takes place on land and at sea.

With regard to the discrepancy on figures, there is no baseline survey of how many non-EEA 
workers are working in the Irish fishing fleet.  An estimate done by the International Transport 
Workers Federation indicated there were roughly 1,500 non-EEA workers in the fleet.  Last 
year, the European Commission estimated, based on figures from the Central Statistics Office, 
that there were 1,500 non-local workers in the entire fishing fleet.  This figure covers every 
nationality other than Irish and would, therefore, include a substantial number of people from 
within the EEA.  The Commission’s estimate was based on what it said were the best available 
official data, namely, CSO figures.  It had to extrapolate from a NACE code, which covered 
agriculture, forestry and fisheries.  The task force estimated, based on Marine Survey Office 
inspection data, that there were roughly 500 non-EEA workers at that time.  As members will 
be aware, slightly more than 200 employment permits have been applied for and issued.  The 
figures are very different.  In the course of our inspections, we found 29 non-EEA workers 
without employment permits or other rights to work.  These cases have been corrected or the 
individuals were informed at the time that they did not have a right to work in the State, absent 
the necessary consents.

Mr. Dooley will address the issues of meetings and briefings for employees during the in-
formation period in early 2016.

Deputy  Bríd Smith: I also asked a question on language.

Mr. Padraig Dooley: On language, our website contains all basic employment rights litera-
ture in multiple languages.

The original educational visits were part of the inspection programme and were aimed pri-
marily at trawler owners to bring them up to speed as to what was required and what we expect-
ed of them.  Since then, the Sea-Fisheries Protection Authority has held information sessions in 
all ports, which we have attended, as have other agencies.  This is a one-stop-shop that allows 
anyone to come in and speak to us.  It is a normal activity to provide an information booth with 
the other agencies. 



21 SEPTEMBER 2017

51

Senator  Paul Gavan: I thank the witnesses for the information provided, which has been 
very helpful.  Are Egyptian, Ghanaian and Filipino among the languages used on the Workplace 
Relations Commission website?

Mr. Padraig Dooley: As far as I know, we do not have Ghanaian or Egyptian on the web-
site.

Senator  Paul Gavan: The website is of very little use in that case.

Deputy  Bríd Smith: I presume Arabic is used on the website, which would cover many 
countries.

Senator  Paul Gavan: That is a fair point.

Deputy  Bríd Smith: It appears, however, that it is not used.

Chairman: I understand English is the official language of Ghana.

Senator  Paul Gavan: I do not know if that is the case but many of the Ghanian officials 
who were here had very little English.  To take the figures provided by Ms Buckley, which I 
believe to be conservative, they suggest there are a minimum of 300 undocumented fishermen.  
Ms Buckley was also very honest when she stated the Workplace Relations Commission will 
probably have to reduce the number of inspections it carries out.  That is a matter of serious con-
cern when, by her own admission, a minimum of 300 undocumented workers are operating in 
the industry.  Through no fault of its own, the Workplace Relations Commission will now step 
back in respect of its inspections regime.  That is not acceptable.  Given the serious concerns 
that all members have expressed, I am taken aback that a vital organisation such as the WRC 
will step back from inspections.

I am delighted we had this discussion on this contentious issue because the Workplace Rela-
tions Commission has confirmed there are large numbers of undocumented non-EEA workers 
in the fishing industry.  I am concerned about this issue and I ask the witnesses to address it to 
the Minister.  We know how bad conditions can be for these people.  The witnesses will prob-
ably have heard that two cases of trafficking have been submitted to the Garda, with a further 
17 such cases in train.  I hope it does not come to that.  I also hope the industry will come to 
its senses and engage with the International Transport Workers Federation and reach a sensible 
agreement to keep the industry going in a way that does not disrespect workers’ rights and 
fundamental rights such as the right to be treated with respect and dignity.  However, I am ex-
tremely concerned that the WRC will have to step back in circumstances in which it knows, as 
Ms Buckley stated, that large numbers of undocumented migrant workers are employed in the 
industry.

Ms Oonagh Buckley: I do not want my comments to be misinterpreted.  What I said with 
regard to the number of non-EEA workers is that there have been a number of guesses about the 
numbers.  The only facts we have are the ones that have been found in inspections, including by 
the Naval Service, the vast majority of whom, in fact, had permission to work in Ireland.  They 
were either on the atypical scheme or they had permission under general employment permit 
law.  We have found 29 without permission to work.  Those are the actual figures.

There were estimates done which vary widely.  As to whether they are accurate, they are an 
estimate, at best probably a guesstimate.  I am not telling the Senator that there are 300, 350 
or 1,250 undocumented non-EEA workers out in the fishing fleet because, frankly, that is not 
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information that I have.

Senator  Paul Gavan: I accept it is an estimate, but Ms Buckley’s own report states that the 
figure is likely to be closer to the 42%.

Ms Oonagh Buckley: That is a better-----

Senator  Paul Gavan: That is what Ms Buckley has in her document.

Ms Oonagh Buckley: It is a better estimate than others we have heard but we are not find-
ing them when we come to do inspections.

Senator Gavan spoke about us pulling back from inspection.  What I specifically said was 
the level of intensity we have sustained over the last two years diverting resources away from 
the many other employments in this country to devote our resources to 170 workplaces is not 
sustainable without additional resources.

Senator  Paul Gavan: I accept that.

Ms Oonagh Buckley: What I have said is we will not walk away from inspecting this fleet.  
We take our obligations under the MOU extremely seriously but the level of intensity with 
which we have done it over the last two years is not sustainable and to continue to do so leaves 
other vulnerable workers who happen not to work on fishing vessels over 15 m in length at risk, 
and we have our obligations across all other ranges of employments.  Therefore, we cannot do 
that.

Senator  Paul Gavan: On one final point of clarity, can Ms Buckley confirm how many 
work permits have been issued this year and last year?

Ms Oonagh Buckley: That is a matter for the immigration service.  We do not issue the 
work permits.  The information it has supplied to us is that there have been 209 in the week 
ended 15 September, of which 33 have been revoked and 89 renewed.

Senator  Paul Gavan: I thank Ms Buckley.

Chairman: I thank Ms Buckley.  That concludes all the questions.  I thank the witnesses 
for coming in.  I note they had a long wait and we appreciate the fact that they stayed.  That 
concludes all our business on today’s agenda.

The joint committee adjourned at 6.42 p.m. until 4 p.m. on Tuesday, 3 October 2017.


